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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

By 35 B 2

Result E 4
Year ended 31 December
BEZNANBLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
20194 20184 20174 20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® TR | ARBFT ARBTT ARETT ARETX
Revenue A 63,377 43,385 38,617 31,179 24,409
Profit before tax B B A1 0 A 33,316 35,300 13,895 20,716 17,909
Income tax expense FiT 15 35 5 32 (9,765) (7,053) (6,772) (4,523) (3,578)
Profit and total comprehensive KRAHEBANENL
income for the year attributable  EEEMRE2E
to owners of the Company W= B 23,551 28,247 7,123 16,193 14,331
Assets and Liabilities EEREE
As at 31 December
M12A31A8
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
20194 20184 20174 20164 2015%
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR | ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Total assets BEE 235,344 220,963 176,060 135,808 189,191
Total liabilities BEE 82,863 92,033 87,633 80,660 150,236
Total equity attributable to owners AR A B A EMG
of the Company BaiBE 152,481 128,930 88,427 55,148 38,955
Financial Statistics Bt 3% 4% 5
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
20194 20184 20174 20164 20154
Current ratio’ M E) B 9.3 5.2 24 1.7 1.1
Gearing ratio (%)’ BEB BT E%) 35.2 41.7 49.8 59.4 79.4
Return on total assets (%) 485 7 [0 3R (%)3 10.0 12.8 4.1 11.9 7.6
Net profit margin (%)* % NE (%) 37.2 65.1 18.5 51.9 58.7

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED = Bl & i [ (2 h%) B R 2 7]
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Financial Summary

B E

Key Financial Data

TEMBHE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
20194 20184 20174 20164 20154
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR AR AR AR AR
Earnings per share — basic® BRRAM-ERS 0.024 0.028 0.009 0.022 0.019
Net assets value per share® BREEFMES 0.152 0.129 0.108 0.074 0.052
Notes: B 5
1. Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities. 1. RBLERDERDEERARDEEFE -
2. Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total liabilities by total assets. 2. EEABHEDREABRIAREETE -
3. Return on total assets is calculated by dividing the profit for the year 3. REERBRDIEFANRFNBANBEEFTE -
by total assets.
4. Net profit margin is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by 4. FRBAETDIRERGFRIAESERTE -
revenue.
5. Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to 5. BREBNTIEARR R A AR FREN R AF

owners of the Company for the year by weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

6. Net assets value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets by
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Net assets represent total assets less total liabilities.

NEBRTEBRZMEFHHE -

6. BREEFEDRFEERUNFACETEAR
ZIMETFHHAHE AEFERGEENLERE -

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED # Bl & i & (#Z i) B R A 7]
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREHRESE

Dear honourable shareholders,

During the Period, the Group was principally
engaged in the sale of burial plots and columbarium
units, provision of other burial-related services and
provision of cemetery maintenance services.

BENEHHWERR :
RZMBEA AEBEIZCEHEE MR ERE  RHE
HtwBHXHARBEREERHZRS -
Zhao Ying,
Non-Executive Director and Chairman
HE FRTEERERE
Dear Shareholders, BEMNSMRR :
Hello, everyone! R8T !

Spring has arrived with a clear blue sky, and the earth comes alive.
In this beautiful season, please allow me, on behalf of the Board of
Directors, to take this opportunity to express to all shareholders,
investors and friends from all walks of life my heartfelt gratitude and
my hope for your happiness!

| am pleased to present, on behalf of the Board of Directors of
China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”), the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

In 2019, China Wan Tong Yuan has transferred its listing from GEM
to the Main Board. This is a monumental success for us where we
have seen significant improvement in operation management and
services. In 2019, the operating revenue of the Company amounted
to RMB63.4 million (2018: RMB43.4 million), representing a growth
of 46.1% compared to 2018. Despite the professional fees in
relation to the transfer of listing this year, the profit attributable to
shareholders of the Group amounted to RMB23.6 million in 2019
(2018: RMB28.2 million).

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED & Bl & 1 [ (2 %) B R 2 7]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 % #}
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Wan Tong Yuan operates under the tenet of “respecting life,
returning to nature, displaying humanity, and eternal
commemoration”, and has made an unchanged commitment to its
customers “to the satisfaction of people in both worlds”. Last year,
Wan Tong Yuan was actively learning and improving itself by using
international, top-notch funeral service standards as its benchmarks.
It took the lead in carrying out a series of boutique services and its
business included cemetery operation, funeral services, cemetery
maintenance, etc. It was operating and managing its business as a
green, environmental and modern cemetery under the idea of
integrating burial memorial, garden art, cultural display and national
defence education as a whole, with an aim to meet diverse demands
of the society.

In 2019, the successful transfer of listing on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange of the Company increased its bargaining power in the
capital market, laying a solid foundation for the position of the
Company in the industry, capital operation and talent acquisition. In
terms of business, China Wan Tong Yuan actively cooperated with
the local government for its city development plan and provided
collective storage services for relocation of columbarium in areas
affected by future development plan. The Company continued to
undertake storage services of columbarium required by the
government for urban redevelopment and built three new
columbarium units for business expansion. In addition, the sale of
burial plots remained stable. The Company continued to expand its
artistic cemetery, and the cemetery environment was improved, with
warmer, more diversified and person-centered products and services,
which enabled the Company to meet different needs and
preferences of its customers.

The Group believes that, benefiting from China’s healthy
development of burial service industry, especially under the trend of
economic recovery, increasing urbanization, consumption upgrade
and aging population, we will continue to seek for higher-level,
higher-quality development in the coming year.

In 2020, the Group will continue to strengthen our market position
in Langfang by creating innovative products and services, planning
and setting up new projects, increasing the coverage of greening in
the cemetery and highlighting the characteristics of humanity,
landscape and ecology. The Group will steadily develop and continue
to expand its own advantages in the sale of burial plots and the
storage of columbarium. The Group will also actively respond and
further expand the layout of funeral services business. By leveraging
on its successful transfer to the Main Board, the Group will aim high
and to extensively explore merger and acquisition projects in the
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei area and even in Asia and cooperate with
funeral homes in various regions, so as to expand the business
coverage of the Company.

[EE4m EEAR BRIAX KALZIZE
MENRE [ERETANALBEIREER

WA —FR BEWNERGREE  XHIR
= HERER-RBERBEE XERART —
FIMBERRE  BEREKE BHELE EE
MEERE KR TERELT  BMEN - XL
BT BERHER—BNGERAREBARLEER
MKEERED  MELEIRABNSTILE
sk o

20195 ARIEBFBBIAERKY  BRHERQ
AEEAMSLENTESNEGEE  RARKE
TR BXREFE AT HREFTTTREDN
AR -AEXBITE TEERNEEBRESXKHE
WRFRTERAE  RERKERFEZEL
ENEBEREHREBTHIRG - AR BEAE
B ERMBENETRTFER  FEIRE KA
RIERER B/ EMHERBRETR  E8
TREWMERE ERRFENER  REHORS
FAEE - ZTit - AR Em RRB B EA
RAGEAMEEFLPOTRFTRELEL -

SEBAE XaRPEBEFREEOREER
FRIRERENESHFIER  TH RSB EILK
EHEFTRUARAOZRECEEBET 50
BEH—FRESKESER EomEMER-

20205 @ AEEBEEEBERIIO TS
THAFERNRYE REEZ[RFER B2 E
BACEEER  REAXC - B ERECH
B RERIT EENEESEDONEMBEEN
BRTEFER BERES E-TERERER
BEBNMGR SEER ERYEIRNORE -
RALERZEMEDESMNEINTBESR
HEEpENBERERISSFRE ARAAN
EXRE -
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

In view of the recent epidemic of the novel coronavirus pneumonia,
the Group will cooperate with the government to actively respond to
the situation and introduce various corporate management measures
in a timely manner, in order to strictly prevent and control the
spread of the epidemic. While developing its business, the Group will
continue to actively organize various social welfare activities to
practice the corporate culture of “Let Love Lives On”. The Group
also maintains a harmonious relationship between human and the
nature, shoulders the industrial, social and historical responsibilities
of a corporate, and promotes the modernization and integration of
the funeral industry in the PRC.

The year of 2020 will be an important one for China Wan Tong
Yuan. After the transfer of listing, all businesses will be carried out
in full swing. In particular, with full access to the capital market, we
will focus on pursuing three important goals: social benefits,
economic benefits and historical responsibilities. We will pursue
exploration and innovation, overcome difficulties and move forward,
and walk in the path of development conducive to humanity, charity
and environment. In the journey of upgrading the traditional funeral
industry to a modern service industry and a business of noble life,
we will provide better products and services, and reward investors
and the society with sustainable growth and results!

In the end, | wish all of us good time and health, and stay gold in
the coming year!

Chairman: Zhao Ying
24 March 2020, Hong Kong

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED = Bl & i [ (2 h%) B R 2 7]
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEBNWN DN

Business Review

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the sale of
burial plots and columbarium units, provision of other burial-related
services and provision of cemetery maintenance services in Langfang.

Sales of burial plots and columbarium units and provision
of other burial-related services

Burial services were the largest component of our revenue,
representing 94.0% of our revenue for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: 92.2%).

The burial services market in Langfang is concentrated. Demand for
our burial service and growth in our revenue are driven by the
overall demand for burial services in Langfang and the lJing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis at large. We believe our reputation, quality of services,
and well-maintained and conveniently located facilities allow us to
compete effectively in Langfang. The Company is optimistic that this
operation will be continuously developed and expanded.

Provision of cemetery maintenance services

We provide ongoing cemetery maintenance services as an integral
part of our burial services to maintain our beautiful landscaped
cemetery. Customers pay for maintenance fees upfront when they
sign the sales contracts to purchase the burial plots. Our revenue
from cemetery maintenance was RMB3.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: RMB3.4 million).

Strengths
Burial services provider strategically located in Langfang

Through our longstanding presence in Langfang, we believe that we
have accumulated valuable knowledge about the local customs and
preferences in terms of burial practices. Leveraging our experience,
local knowledge and market reputation, and supported by the
available land parcels within our cemetery and the broadened
customer base as well as the long-standing stickiness of our
customers, we believe we are able to continue to grow our business
by making additional burial plots based on customer demand and
providing better services. Subject to strict regulatory restrictions and
entry barriers and government zoning policies, we therefore believe
our well-established operation model presents us a considerable first-
mover advantage over potential competitors, assisting us to
penetrate the burial services market in Langfang and the Jing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis at large.

E 3 JE)
FR - AEE E B FIEE Y SRR B -
U400 L1t P8 2 AR R AR TS T 4R L 4 R

o B i K B R R N TR A H b 7B 2 AR AR
%
BERBERMEZHOEREARID  HEHE
20194F12 A31H 1 F & M U 2= #994.0% (2018
F1922%) e

By BEERB TS ED - HRABERBEHFR
REMOKSEERT AR RBERZESTHE
BERBNEEBILHE - HABGEEBEMD
BE RBEEE SERFMMIBEEMORE &
MAEBSERBEF - ARAHLEBSHER
F& I % ok R B S4B -

IR ERE#ERS

B ERBBEEERE S ERES &
RHEMBERBITAILRN R - B FIHEE
HEHWEEANRIENINHEES - HE2019F
NANBLEFE  BRMEEMGEEREN KA
ARE3ISHEL(2018%F : AR¥E3AHET) °

B2

{37 7 JBS H7 B S 10 BR B0 B 2 MRS (L FE S
HREMBRFEABY TS SHAEHRMABERT
BEMNAMBARRESEZBOMAE BER
PMERMAMAZELHEEE  SERNERA
AiRE R G RNBTPUAREPHREMIEE
BMEERMTEREPFIBBIILHEE
AREHORBHEEREL IRNEBNE
B IR B A A PTHE A R BT B30 B - Bk - 3K
MEEEENELRABTHRMREERFH T
EANEHOED UEXETABS RREER
MEBERBMS -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EBEH 3R D N

Comprehensive burial services to satisfy diversified
customer needs

Instead of basic burial services which only have limited scope for
unique designs or customization, we offer diversified burial services
to customers with different preferences and budgets and attract local
customers who are willing to pay a price premium for unique
designs or customization and customers from neighboring cities
where affordable burial sites have become increasingly sparse. We
can provide more diversified burial services to satisfy customers’
various needs with high-quality services of different types;
meanwhile, we are able to cater to different preferences of
customers by designing diversified traditional and art cemetery, as
well as providing various types of burial services, such as tree burial
and flower bed burial.

Brand associated with professionalism and commitment to
social responsibility

We operate our cemetery under the brand “&#dE&E (Wan Tong
Yuan)” and cooperate with a network of third-party funeral service
providers in Langfang which refer customers to us. We believe that
our brand exemplifies our professionalism and commitment to social
responsibility. We strive to provide professional burial services to our
customers. To this end, we provide on-the-job training to all
employees, with a strong focus on cultivating their moral character.
We believe that employees with sufficient industry experience and a
virtuous character are better suited to attending customers in
emotional stress with professionalism and delicacy. We also keep
abreast of market changes and customer demand from our daily
operations.

We have organised various charity activities, including visits to elderly
home on Chongyang Festival and participation in a social welfare
organization “Love and Companionship”. We focus more on
palliative care for the elderly. With the improvement of corporate
reputation, we also emphasis more on our role as a revolutionary
education base to promote the spirit of revolutionary tradition and to
educate the young generation. We are also committed to taking
more social responsibilities and responsible for the placement and
storage of cremains transferred from urban villages or anonymous
cremains referred by social welfare institutions.

Committed, experienced and stable management team

We believe that our committed, professional, experienced and stable
management team enables us to form a vision of long-term
development, closely follow the market trends and customer
preferences with industry insights to adjust our business strategies
and execute our business initiatives on a consistent basis. We
provide professional training, scientific and reasonable remuneration
system and career path, and attractive benefits package for all
employees to achieve health and stable development in our team.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED = Bl & i [ (2 h%) B R 2 7]
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EBEH R D I

Outlook

The sales of the Group’s burial services used to peak during February
and March and around the Qing Ming Festival in the prior years.
Due to the impact of the recent outbreak of the novel coronavirus,
the Group is facing significant challenges in its business
development. With that said, the Group will continue to uphold its
belief and cooperate with the government on the anti-epidemic work
and consistently improve the operations of the cemetery and provide
quality services to our customers.

The Group aspires to strengthen its market position in Langfang and
expand its business in the lJing-Jin-Ji megalopolis and beyond
through the following strategies.

Strengthen the market position in Langfang

The Company believes that a more elegant environment of the
cemetery with warmer, more diversified and person-centered services
would enable the Company to address the customers’ various needs
and preferences. Thus, the Group has continuously upgraded and
planned to further develop its cemetery, especially the environment
in cemetery, upgrade its facilities and diversify its service offerings.
For example, the Group upgraded the main entrance of the
cemetery, commenced to develop “Pine Garden” (#A[&) and further
developed its sectioned burial areas for artistic burial plots. In 2020,
in addition to the further development of its cemetery as mentioned
above, the Group plans to design and provide other types of burial
services, for example, wall burial (B22£), sea burial (§%) and tree
burial (#12€). Moreover, the Group intends to promote its reputation
and services through contact and communications with more
prospective customers, communities and institutions of elderly
services, for example, to invite more prospective customers to the
Group's events and to organize recreation and sports events for the
elderly.

&2

PATE - A2 BAMARIBRRERRIE - I RAKEELE
RBHENSERH - FERKAFEUBERRS
MRBENTE AEENEBEREEEANL
oA mlt AEENEEERFT —BEURD
R EaBFETHERIE IRHEXZEER
BERREPIEHEENRSY

FEBEREUA T RE  AEBERZERBHHT
SR WEARNEEREEATE R MR
B R

= [&] 70 JBR 57 ) T 35 b L

ARARE HAETERERRRRERERR
BZUERAMCRTE  BEARBERDER
FRARBREEMN - At - NEETEETH
RBESFHEE—HBRRER LERRTER
RIR - ARRERERBEZ T - Hl - AEE
EARBGEREILER RARFAEIME]IRE—F
FREMBMNEITRR - N20205F B LA EE
E-THERN AREFERAREREMER
EVTEZEARTS - DIANEESE - B AR 2R o WA RN
EREBRFLBEERP, HERRERBHE
g loBE NRSBEREERE  HIMEE
FZBEREFP2AAEEEY Y ARERRR
LEREED -

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED # Bl & i & (#Z i) B R A 7]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019  #&

1



12

Management Discussion and Analysis

EBEH 3R D N

In addition, in view of the rapid development of Langfang, which is
benefited from the overall development of the Jing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis, the local government has been carrying out the urban
planning and construction. During this process, it may involve the
migration of the villagers and resettlement of the cremains of their
deceased relatives. As a licensed and well established cemetery, in
possession of both capability and capacity, the Group provides
columbarium collective storage services to meet the demand arising
from the local government'’s city development plan on one hand, and
broaden its income source on the other. Further to the sale of
columbarium units in 2018, the Group plans to actively cooperate
with and support the local government’s city development plan, and
provide columbarium collective storage services for the removed
cremains in the areas under the development plan in the future. In
light of further demand of such columbarium collective storage
services induced by the government’s city planning, the Group has
invested approximately RMB21.4 million and completed the
construction of another three buildings in its cemetery as
columbaria, with the real estate certificate (7~ &) ZE # i) obtained in
September 2019. The Group will make good use of its new
columbaria to continuously support the government's city
development plan.

The Directors believe that the above will further strengthen the
Group's market position in Langfang.

Expand the business scope to provide funeral services

The Group generated substantially all of its revenue from burial
services and has also forged stable business relationship with a
number of local funeral services providers which refer customers to
the Group. The Directors believe, however, that one-stop-shop
services integrating funeral and burial services are able to confer a
significant competitive advantage, as bereaved families generally
prefer dealing with fewer services providers to ensure a seamless and
smooth experience at each stage of the process. The Group has set
up service sites at Langfang Funeral Parlor (BE¥5m7E{#%£E), and
assigned specialists to introduce cemetery-related services, deal with
pre-service business and promote to and identify prospective
customers.
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In the future, the Group plans to offer the following customized
funeral services: (i) providing its customers with consultations on
funeral arrangements and suggesting certain funeral services
packages for them; (ii) liaising with the families of the deceased, the
funeral parlor and crematorium for transportation arrangements of
the deceased; making up and dressing up the deceased in
accordance with the wishes of the customers; (iii) providing wreaths
and flower arrangements, and specially-prepared decorations for
display at the funeral; and (iv) arranging for and conducting the
performance of funeral rituals or ceremonies as required by the
customers.

The Group will continue to expand its services from provision of
burial services only to provision of integrated funeral and burial
services.

Tap further into the burial services market in the Jing-Jin-
Ji megalopolis

Leveraging on the Group’s strategic location in Langfang and
proximity to regional hubs in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis, the Group
continues to pay effort to tap further into the burial services market
in this region, especially in Beijing, where affordable burial plots have
become increasingly sparse and local residents become increasingly
mobile with the integration of communities and the construction of
a web of high-speed intercity transportation infrastructure. The
Group plans to devote more marketing resources to serving the
neighboring cities and further develop cooperation with local funeral
services providers as its business partners. The Group targets to
establish cooperative relationships with more Beijing-based funeral
services providers in 2020 to promote its burial services locally.
Meanwhile, the Group plans to cooperate with local funeral homes
and hospital mortuaries to access bereaved families in a more direct
and more prompt way, so that the Group can react immediately to
provide high-quality one-stop-shop services integrating funeral and
burial services for its prospective customers.
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Pursue strategic alliance and acquisition opportunities

The Group is developing its business primarily through organic
growth. Going forward, the Group intends to selectively acquire,
invest in or enter into strategic partnerships with other death care
services providers, including funeral services providers and cemetery
operators. The Group bases its selection criteria on, among other
location, land cost, land reserves and

things, brand name,

profitability. The Group generally favors cemeteries located in
wealthy and densely populated provinces, where there is a higher
demand for high-quality death care services. In particular, the Group
seeks to prioritize business expansion opportunities with death care
services providers in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis and bring synergy to
its current operations. Meanwhile, it will also explore potential
acquisition or investment in other regions. In addition to the
downstream industry of burial services, the Group is also committed
to seeking development in the upstream industry, for example,
palliative care services, to expand its business opportunities and to
identify strategic alliance. Therefore, the Directors believe that the
Group will achieve industrial integration from aging to burial for a

diverse range of customers.
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Financial Review
Revenue

Our revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 was substantially
generated from: (i) sale of burial plots, which includes the right to
use the burial plots and headstones and other ancillary products to
be used on the burial plots; (i) sale of columbarium units, which
includes the right to use the columbarium units and other ancillary
products to be used on columbarium units; (iii) other burial-related
services such as the organization and conducting of interment
rituals, the design, construction and landscaping of the burial plots,
and the engraving of inscriptions and ceramic photographs on the
headstones; and (iv) cemetery maintenance services. The table below
sets forth a breakdown of our revenue:

Bt 7 [B] B8

W 25

BFE Z2019F12A318 It FE R KD %K
B:(O)EHMEE BEENEREMERKLREM
FHRANEMREER: WMEEERB 2EBK
BB {6 PR A I H Ab Big & B S (i) B b 7E 22 48 AR
B PINMEZHERBILREEAARELNRS
BERSEH RERBRASXLBABREREE
RS R(vVEBEEERS - TERSHE MU
R4

Year ended 31 December

BZNRANBLEE
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
% of total % of total
Revenue revenue Revenue revenue
W %= 1l #8 U 3% & 16 B &
(RMB’'000) % (RMB’'000) %
(AR®T ) (ANREFT)
Burial Services BEEIRK
Sales of burial plots HEEH 30,228 47.7% 33,242 76.6%
Sale of columbarium units 5 B KRR 24,886 39.3% 4,145 9.6%
Provision of other burial-related IR HE A 28
services 1B B AR 7% 4,472 7.0% 2,619 6.0%
59,586 94.0% 40,006 92.2%
Provision of cemetery maintenance 3 it & & # # IR %
services 3,791 6.0% 3,379 7.8%
63,377 100.0% 43,385 100.0%

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED # Bl & i & (#Z i) B R A 7]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019  #&

15



16

Management Discussion and Analysis

EBEH 3R D N

Benefiting from the regional economic growth, we have grown
substantially since our inception in 2007. Further to the sale of
certain columbarium units (288 square metres) in 2018, the Group
continued to actively cooperate with and support the local
government’s city development plan, and provide columbarium
collective storage services for the removed cremains in the areas
under the development plans. In 2019, the Group recognized a
revenue in the amount of RMB24.9 million from the sale of certain
columbarium units (1,481 square metres), which contributed to the
substantial increase in total revenue for the year. The Group’s
revenue was increased by 46.1% from RMB43.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018 to RMB63.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Cost of sales and services

Cost of sales and services consist primarily of the costs we incur in
relation to the provision of our services. Our cost of sales and
services was at RMB12.8 million in 2019 (2018: RMB7.0 million), with
an increase of 83.5%.

SRR RIS K - B AP 820074 & 3 LA 2k B
BT - #£2018F & L35 B KR (288F 75 K) -
REBEEERE S RIHE BT H T E R
2 AREBERFEIVEMWRNBEEMIZHER
TR - 20196 - AEEEFEARKE24988
THEXRBEER (1481FHK) AMESE

R mBEE L - AEBEMNKREBE2018FNAR
®43.48 & LI I146.1% =2019F M A R #63.45H

b —

BT °

& & AR & B AR

HEMBRERATEAERMMBHBREEEDN
AR - FAf2019F A8 E MIRIER A BARE12.8
BEJL(2018F : ARBE70HE L) @ 12083.5% °

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MBLLEE

2019 2018

2019%F 20184
Cost of % of total Cost of % of total
sales and cost of sales sales and  cost of sales
services and services services and services
HER (HEHER HENR (HBHEER
BR # R% 2= BR 7 B 2= AR 75 B A AR 75 B A
(RMB'000) % (RMB'000) %

(AR®T 1) (ANRETF T

Burial services B R 12,150 95.2% 6,585 94.7%
Cemetery maintenance ERgE 613 4.8% 369 5.3%
12,763 100.0% 6,954 100.0%

The Group’s cost of sales and services consist primarily of the costs
it incurred in relation to the provision of its services, including the
headstone cost, construction cost of columbaria, land acquisition
cost, cemetery maintenance cost, burial-related cost and others.

The Group’s cost of sales and services for burial service increased
significantly by 84.5% from RMB6.6 million in 2018 to RMB12.2
million in 2019, primarily due to the increase in construction costs as
a result of increased sale of the columbarium units in 2019. The
Group’s cost of sales and services for cemetery maintenance
increased from RMBO.4 million in 2018 to RMB0.6 million in 2019.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit represents revenue less cost of sales and services. Our

gross profit for 2019 and 2018 was RMB50.6 million and RMB36.4 2018FEHEF DA A ARKES06AB TR ARE
million, respectively. 36488 -

EFREF =
E R B0 U 2

SR 8H B &OBR TE AR AN o 3 192019F K

Year ended 31 December

BENAMBLEE

2019 2018

20195 20184
Gross  Gross profit Gross Gross profit
profit margin profit margin
ER ERM=E EM EM =
(RMB’000) % (RMB'000) %

(AR®T 1) (ANREFT)

Burial services e 47,436 79.6% 33,421 83.5%
Cemetery maintenance ERgEE 3,178 83.8% 3,010 89.1%
50,614 79.9% 36,431 84.0%

Our overall gross profit margin for 2019 and 2018 was 79.9% and
84.0%, respectively. Our relatively high gross profit margins during
the year were primarily due to (i) the relatively high gross profit
margins in the burial industry; (ii) our ability to provide high-quality
burial services; and (iii) the relatively low land acquisition cost for our
cemetery.

The lower gross profit margin percentage for 2019 is mainly due to
higher construction costs of the new columbaria resulting in a lower
gross profit margin for the sale of certain columbarium units in
2019. The gross profit margin percentage of the provision of
cemetery maintenance services decreased by approximately 5%-point
year-on-year, mainly due to the increase in other greening sporadic
expenses in 2019.

Other income

The Group’s other income decreased by 52.5% from RMB10.3
million in 2018 to RMB4.9 million in 2019. This decrease was
primarily due to a decrease in dividends income from financial assets
at FVTPL in 2019.

Distribution and selling expenses

Our distribution and selling expenses increased by 17.4% from
RMB5.6 million for 2018 to RMB6.6 million for 2019. This increase
was primarily due to selling expenses relating to the increased sale of
columbarium units in 2019.

F PI2019F R2018F M BB EF X H 5 £79.9%
%84.0% - KM FARNEMEHEERS T ERH
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K o
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TEMI M-
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Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses increased significantly by 192.3% from
RMB5.7 million for 2018 to RMB16.7 million for 2019. This increase
was primarily due to the increase in professional fees and other
expenses relating to the transfer of listing from GEM to Main Board,
amounting to approximately RMB10.0 million (2018: nil).

Profit before tax

As a result of the above, our profit before tax decreased by 5.6%
from RMB35.3 million for 2018 to RMB33.3 million for 2019.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense increased by 38.5% from RMB7.1 million
for 2018 to RMB9.8 million for 2019, generally consistent with the
increase of our revenue.

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

Our profit and total comprehensive income for the year decreased by
16.6% from RMB28.2 million for 2018 to RMB23.6 million for 2019.
Our net profit margin decreased from 65.1% for 2018 to 37.2% for
2019, primarily due to higher professional fees and other
administrative expenses incurred in connection with the application
for the transfer of listing from GEM to Main Board in 2019 and the
decrease in dividends income from financial assets at FVTPL in 2019;
partly offset by higher revenue in 2019 with the increased sales of
columbarium units.

Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2019
calculated based on the weighted average number of 1,000,000,000
ordinary shares was RMB0.024 (basic earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2018: RMB0.028).

Cash Flow

Our cash and cash equivalents decreased by RMB2.1 million to
RMB189.3 million as at 31 December 2019 from RMB191.4 million as
at 31 December 2018, principally attributable to the net cash
outflow of RMB5.5 million from our operating activities; partially
offset by the net cash inflow of RMB2.3 million from investing
activities.

Pledge of assets

There was no charge on the Group’s assets as at 31 December 2019
and 2018.
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Inventories

Our inventories primarily consist of burial plots, columbarium units,
headstones and others. The related carrying amounts of the
cemetery assets attributable to the burial plots and columbarium
units are transferred to inventory upon the commencement of
development of cemetery assets into burial plots with the intention
of sale in the ordinary course of business. Headstones are recognised
as inventory when they are contracted for sale and set up in the
cemetery. Inventories are transferred to cost when the customer
obtains the right to use the burial plot. Our inventories increased
significantly from RMB2.0 million as at 31 December 2018 to
RMB19.3 million as at 31 December 2019, primarily due to certain
expenditure for the construction of the three new columbaria.

Prepayments and other receivables

Our prepayments and other receivables remained relatively stable at
RMBO.5 million and RMBO.7 million as at 31 December 2018 and
2019, respectively.

Trade and other payables

Our trade and other payables increased by 41.6% from RMB9.5
million as at 31 December 2018 to RMB13.4 million as at 31
December 2019, primarily due to certain professional fees in relation
to the transfer of listing from GEM to Main Board were only settled
in early 2020 subsequent to the successful transfer in December
2019.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities represent the obligations to transfer burial plots
and cemetery maintenance services in accordance with the revenue
recognition policy and the nature of the business.

As at 31 December 2019, current contract liabilities amounted to
RMB7.7 million (as at 31 December 2018: RMB9.1 million). The
decrease in current contract liabilities is mainly due to recognition of
revenue during the year.

As at 31 December 2019, non-current contract liabilities amounted
to RMB58.2 million (as at 31 December 2018: RMB52.7 million). The
increase in non-current contract liabilities is mainly due to increase in
advances from customers during the current year.

Capital structure

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no change to
the capital structure of the Company.
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Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2019, we had bank balances and cash of
approximately RMB189.3 million (2018: RMB191.4 million). We have
financed our working capital, capital expenditures and other capital
requirements primarily through income generated from our
operations. In the future, we expect to fund our capital
expenditures, working capital and other capital requirements from
the Group's bank balances and cash, cash generated from our
operations and other borrowings.

Gearing ratio

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on annual
basis. As part of this review, the Directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risk associated with each class of capital.
Based on the recommendations of the Directors of the Company,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through payment
of dividends, issue of new shares and repurchase of shares as well as
issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio of the Group, being total
liabilities to total assets, was 35.2% (2018: 41.7%), which indicates
the Group's healthy liquidity position.

Employee remuneration and relations

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 59 employees
(2018: 62 employees). The Group provides employees with
competitive remuneration and benefits, and the remuneration policy
will be reviewed on a regular basis based on the performance and
contribution of the employees and the industry remuneration level. In
addition, the Group also provides various training courses to
enhance the employees’ skills and capabilities in all aspects.

Operating lease

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had minimum lease payments
receivable of approximately RMB0.2 million (2018: RMBO0.4 million).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had capital commitments in
respect of expenditure in cemetery assets of approximately RMBO.3
million (2018: nil).

Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2019 (2018: nil).
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Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals

During the year, there were no material acquisition or disposal of
significant investment.

On 24 August 2018, Langfang Wantong Cemetery Co., Ltd. (E835TH
EMRMAZEABRADA) (the “Vendor”, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and Langfang City Huanmei Landscaping
Engineering Co., Ltd. (BB MR EBE M T2 H R 2 &) (the
"Purchaser”) entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement
(the "SPA”), pursuant to which the Purchaser has conditionally
agreed to acquire the sale shares, being 5.78% of the total
registered capital of Suburban Rural Credit Cooperatives of Langfang
City (BR¥5 T3k 28 B AT {5 F & {EB 1) (the “Target Company”), and
the Vendor has agreed to sell the abovementioned sale shares (the
“Disposal”) at the total consideration of RMB76,000,000.

Completion of the Disposal took place on the completion date in
accordance with terms and conditions of the SPA. Immediately after
the completion, the Group ceased to hold any interest in the Target
Company.

Further details of the Disposal were set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 24 August 2018 and the circular of the
Company dated 24 September 2018.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s business is principally denominated in Renminbi. As
certain bank deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
therefore, the Group is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk.
No currency hedging arrangement had been made by the Group
during the year. The Directors have positive attitude to regular
monitor the exposure to foreign exchange so as to reduce the
foreign exchange rate risk to minimal.

EARE WEBFEEILEFE

AFEYEBEARBAEESH TEFELHEX
RE -

M2018F8A24H  BUIMBMARBERAR(E
FlARARBEZENE QR BB MIIREE
MIRBRERARATEFDILERGES W&
(TEEH=z] B BEFEKREREKBHER
m BB MR BENERAEBRIT(TEEZER
T EME RLEENS.78%  ME S A IEHRSH
ErfFeERG((REFE]) REAEAAR
#76,000,0007T °

HEEEM TN T B HIR IR E & 5 0 R
RIGHEE EBEZRER AXEITBRFEER
NEIRESCIE: £

HEFHE2E—SHBIANEALQE B EA20184F
8A24B M AE N ARNTF HEA2018F9A24H K
K o

SIEE 2 B2

AEBNEBETENARBIE - BIRE TRT
TFRABTTEHE » At - REBERZIMNER K © A
SEEFABELETERN ML -EFHEEBTE
HBE AT A MO S I L B - LA 2R T R BR KON BE R

(G o
AA

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED # Bl & i & (#Z i) B R A 7]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019  #&

21



22

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRE

The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to establish and maintain good corporate
governance practices and procedures. For the year ended 31
December 2019, the Board has adopted its own code on corporate
governance practices which incorporate all the code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Directors will continue to
review its corporate governance practices in order to enhance its
corporate governance standard and ensure further standards be put
in place by reference to the recommended best practices whenever
suitable and appropriate.

This Corporate Governance Report is to outline the major principles
of the Company’s corporate governance. Shareholders are
encouraged to make their views known to the Group if they have
issues with the Company’s corporate governance and to directly raise
any matters of concern to the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”).

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
CG Code during the Year.

Board of Directors

Our Board currently consists of six Directors, comprising one non-
executive Director (“NED"), two executive Directors (“EDs”) and
three independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The powers and
duties of our Board include convening general meetings and
reporting our Board’s work at our Shareholders’ meetings,
determining our business and investment plans, preparing our annual
financial budgets and final reports, formulating proposals for profit
distributions as well as exercising other powers, functions and duties
as conferred by our Memorandum and Articles of Association. The
composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December 2019
and up to the date of this report was as follows:
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Name of Director Position

EEpE B

Zhao Ying Non-executive Director and Chairman
iR FRMTEERER

Li Xingying Executive Director

F Bz HITES

Huang Guangming Executive Director

= E 8 HITEF

Cheung Ying Kwan Independent non-executive Director
o JiE 48 BIFERITES

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert Independent non-executive Director
F ok BYIFRTESE

Choi Hon Keung, Simon Independent non-executive Director
2% BYEATESF
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There is no relationship between the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer. The Directors do not have financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with each other. The
biographical details of the Directors and other senior management
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages from 33 to 39 of this annual
report.

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs
with at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial management
expertise as required under the Listing Rules among the Directors.
The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all of the independent non-executive Directors and the Board is
of the view that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for overseeing the management, businesses,
strategic directions, financial performance and monitoring business
and performance. The Board provides high-level guidance and
effective oversight of the Management and holds regular meetings to
discuss the Group’s businesses and operations. All Directors carry out
their duties in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, taking decisions objectively and acting in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
involving conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the management team. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed by the Board to
ensure that they accommodate the needs of the Group. Executive
Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review the
performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole. The Board
also gives clear directions as to their powers of management
including circumstances where management should report back, and
will review the delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
delivery of the Board functions.

Board Diversity

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy with
measurable objectives. A diverse Board will include and make good
use of differences in the skills, industry knowledge and experience,
education, race, age, gender, background and other qualities of
directors. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a general dividend policy that aims to
provide the shareholders of the Company out of the Group’s profit
attributable to shareholders in any financial year. In proposing any
dividend payout, the Board shall take into account, inter alia, the
following factors: (i) the actual and expected financial results of the
Group; (ii) economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; (iii) the Group’s business strategies,
including future cash commitments and investment needs to sustain
the long-term growth aspect of the business; (iv) the current and
future operations, liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group; and any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance with
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquires of
the Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with
the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during
the period from the date of listing up to the date of this report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer are carried out by different individuals. The role of Chairman
is held by Ms. Zhao Ying, and the role of Chief Executive Officer is
held by Mr. Yu Minghua. The Chairman provides leadership for the
Board and ensures its effectiveness in all aspects. The Chief
Executive Officer has the delegated power to monitor the daily
operation and management of the Company. The Board will keep
reviewing the current structure of the Board and the need of
appointment of a suitable candidate to perform the role of
Chairman.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED = Bl & i [ (2 h%) B R 2 7]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 £ #}

PREF(BRBYUFATES)REFTEHRE
MBENEBLR MARFEXRE XX
WEMITESERE BERM -

EEZEgZ it
ARRERMNRBEAUGBEARNESTSZTIE
R-ZNEMNEEEHEREREAEETRANK
e TTEMBNER HE ER- FiK 4R
ERREAMFE -MEEESEmIARARS
AR BAEBENEBREAER LFENE
BEFESZITLME -

iR B BUER
ARARDEHRMN—MIREBER - & E N EMESERF
ERREEAEE LGN R AR B BRRIRMARE -
ERERNETARER EFEERATEER(HES
B (O ARENERREYM RS - ()78
FENRBEEB KRB KRR AL A
Ko Eo A R #F 3k M EE R 5% ¢ (i) AN 5 T A 3R AR B
BRBERMEBERMTHRRRE ALK
ERE2 (WAKEBRIRRRNEE RBER
RAREATR: REFER/BEENEMEMD
Sl

EENESFRS
ARRERELTRAME RAEWES?
HARREEMBRT TR - GAE ST AR
Wik 2REFRBRSH LT ABLEEAR
AHEM —EETRENEEEEREAF
BNEREEESSRTTA

53
3 O ot mi

A

T

FRRITHAR

T HUB HA0 A 5 K B P P TR A LB (T -
HEL LR MAPRELERETHEE -
EEAGEFE  DRERERAA S DR A
B THeRERREEAARA Y EERE
B EFRHBARAESEENNRBRER
BEARBEER-BOBE -



Corporate Governance Report
PEERHRE

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed
three INEDs representing more than one-third of the Board and at
least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The functions of INEDs are primarily to bring an independent
judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conducts at board
meetings.

Confirmation of Independence

Each of INEDs has made an annual confirmation of independence by
reference to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considers that all Independent Non-executive Directors were
independent during the Year.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the EDs is engaged on a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years. The Company has also issued a
letter of appointment for a term of three years to the NED and each
of the INEDs.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are governed by the Articles of Association. The
Company has established a Nomination Committee which is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the
appointment and succession planning of the Directors and assessing
the independence of the INEDs.

The Articles of Association provides that any Director so appointed to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting. Any Director so appointed as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting (“AGM") of the Company after his appointment
and be eligible for re-election at such meeting. Any Director so
appointed by the Board shall not be taken into account in
determining the Directors or the number of Directors who are to
retire by rotation at an annual general meeting.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of Directors is
not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The
Directors to retire in each year shall be those who have been in
office longest since their last re-election or appointment but, as
between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on
the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.
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Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to ensure
that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements. During the year ended December
31, 2019, all Directors, including Ms. Zhao Ying, Ms. Li Xingying,
Mr. Huang Guangming, Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan, Dr. Wong Wing
Kuen, Albert, Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon had studied the reading
materials relevant to corporate governance and other regulatory
requirements in order to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly for reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance, and considering and approving the
overall strategies and policies of the Company. Additional meetings
are held when significant events or important issues are required to
be discussed and resolved.

The following table indicates the number of Board, committee and
general meetings during the financial year and the number of
attendance by each of the Directors:
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Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All the Board committees should report to the Board on their
decisions or recommendations made.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and code provision C.3.3 of the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing rules. The Audit Committee
consists of three members, namely Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, Mr.
Cheung Ying Kwan and Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon. The chairman
of the Audit Committee is Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to assist our Board by providing
an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management system of our Group,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
removal of external auditors, reviewing our financial information and
disclosures, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review our
policies and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned
by the Board.

During 2019, the Audit Committee held 5 meetings to review and
discuss the relevant quarterly, interim and annual financial
statements, results announcements and reports of the Group.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and code provision B.1.2 of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely Dr.
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan and Ms. Zhao
Ying. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Albert. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee include (but without limitation): (i) making
recommendations to the Directors regarding our policy and structure
for the remuneration of all our Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the remuneration policies; (ii) making recommendations
to our Board on the remuneration packages of our Directors and
senior management; and (iii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to our Board's
corporate goals and objectives.
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The Company has adopted the model to delegate the remuneration
committee to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management.

During 2019, the Remuneration Committee meet one time to review
the remuneration policies and remuneration packages of the
Directors.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision A.5.2
of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Ms. Zhao Ying, Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan and Mr. Choi Hon
Keung, Simon. The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Ms.
Zhao Ying. The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to
make recommendations to our Board on appointment of members of
our Board. During 2019, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
concluded that the members of the Board have possessed the
expertise and independence to carry out the Board’s functions and
responsibilities.

Pursuant to the terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee
(Amended and restated with effect from 16 December 2019), the
Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and professional
experience, gender, age, cultural and educational background) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy. Based on such factors, the Nomination Committee shall also
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Statements

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

The Board is committed to providing a balanced, clear and
comprehensive assessment of quarterly, interim and annual reports,
price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor on
the financial statements of the Group are set out in the section of
“Independent Auditor’s Report” in this Annual Report.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED = Bl & i [ (2 h%) B R 2 7]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 £ #}

ARAEMTEEFHZEERNESTSEZARES
HTEFREMEEBABRFTHFEMNELN -

R2019FE FMZESR1TT —RE#&
ARAEFEHNHMHERR L FMEFE -

LA 28

REEZE®
ARAEKIIERZB G &R ™R A &
THEEEERTRIAS2H EEEMBES
E-f2RZE8ahm=—amEBMAN  IBAELL &
EHELERFERALE - REZBEIFE/BEA
Xt - REAZEENIEREANZAEEZTSK
BRESERIHERER - R2019FE  RERZE
ERTT -REF URTEFERE HARR
BN TREEFEXNERBITEFTSTHER
BEENBEEMB B -

RERZZESNRESRE (BT RESY B
2019FF 12 R16H AR - REREZEBEHELEF
BN EEIMER RERAKX (BEREE - AH
LEELS R Fik XERHBEESR) I
MEMBBHAEARRNARIREMBHEESE
HHEZFHRNER ERZSEX REELEE
NEYECAESBERAIETEEEKEMAL
WHBREZEBATHIESAR A EETSIE
HER -

EERMBHRREAARENERE
5 0B RS SRR ST KB WA

BRAFEASESHUBRENAME -

EFERHONTE THEFR ERHEAE
REMBRAEEMEER TR NTOEMBEEEE
REFF  EWRE2EAFM -

E=VTABEAAEEHARAKELERD
BREARBNFHABRANERNTHARESE -

AR RN ZEED G AR B MR R RE
BN ANFERB L ZBENRE | o



Corporate Governance Report
PEERHRE

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies,
practices on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices in compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct applicable to employees and the Directors, and reviewing
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report contained in the Company’s annual
reports.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, in respect of audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to
RMB1,180,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the fees paid/payable for
the services provided by the Company's auditor are set out as
follows:

Services rendered
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Fees paid/payable
e ENER

Statutory audit services
EEEBZRSG

Non-audit services

FEZRS

RMB1,180,000
AR ¥1,180,0007T

RMB740,000
A K #740,0007T

Remuneration of Senior Management

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management is set out by band as follows:
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TR HERZ27 0T

Number of employees
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2019 2018
20194 20184
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board recognises the overall responsibility for the establishment,
maintenance, and review of the risk management and internal
control system and an effective risk management and internal
control system enhances the Group’s ability in achieving business
objectives, safeguarding assets, complying with applicable laws and
regulations and contributes to the effectiveness and efficiency of its
operations. The senior management reviews and evaluates the
control process and monitors any risk factors on a regular basis and
reports to the Board and the Audit Committee on any findings and
measures to address the variances and identified risks.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group’s risk management and internal control procedures
include a comprehensive budgeting, information reporting and
performance monitoring system. The Audit Committee reviews the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and the Group's
risk management and internal control system annually, covering all
key control, including financial, operational and compliance. The
result of review will be reported to the Board and some measures
would be proposed if there is any area for improvement. During the
Year, the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and considered them
effective and adequate.

Company Secretary

Mr. Lam Koon Fai resigned as the company secretary of the
Company on 21 February 2019. On the same day, Mr. Tang Chun
Man Adam (“Mr. Tang”) was appointed as the company secretary of
the Company. The biographical details of Mr. Tang are set out under
the section headed “Biographies of the Directors and Senior
Management”.

Shareholders’ Right

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders of the Company and the
Board. An AGM of the Company shall be held in each year and at
the place as may be determined by the Board.
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Right to Convene EGM and putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM"). EGM shall be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two Months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

EGM shall be called by at least 14 days’ notice in writing. The
written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong marked with the attention of the
company secretary, and such may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Enquires to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquires to the Board in writing to
the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company.

Enquiry Contact:

By email: admin@Ifwty.com
By post: Unit 3508, 35th Floor,
West Tower,

Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong

Attention: Public Relationship
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Investors Relations

The Company has maintained a continuing dialogue with the
Company’s shareholders and investors through various channels,
including, among others, the Company’s annual, interim and
quarterly reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the
Company’s website at www.Ifwty.com. The Company also holds
press conferences from time to time at which the Executive Directors
and senior management of the Group are available to answer
questions regarding the Group’s business and performance.

Inside Information

The Company regulates the handling and propagation of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission
and as indicated in the corporate responsibility policy and various
affiliate proceedings to ensure inside information remains
confidential until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved, and the propagation of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors and
employees about the due compliance with all policies regarding the
inside information with the latest regulatory updates.

Change in Constitutional Documents

The Company has adopted the memorandum and articles of
association on 7 September 2017 for Listing. Save to above, for the
year ended 31 December 2019, the Board does not aware of any
significant changes in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the Year.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Board of Directors

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) consists of six Directors,
comprising one non-executive Director, two executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors.

ZHAO Ying (i 7)
Non-executive Director and Chairman

Ms. ZHAO Ying (#78), aged 49, joined the Group in January 2017
and was further designated as a non-executive Director in March
2017. Ms. Zhao has been serving as a director of Wan Tong (HK)
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since
January 2017. Ms. Zhao has been serving as a director of Langfang
City Property Development Co., Ltd. (BE¥i i@ B ER E B R A
Al) since February 2008 and a non-executive director of China VAST
Industrial Urban Development Company Limited (% Bl 72 Ze &£ £ T #8
R AR AT, a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 6166) since February 2014.

LI Xingying (Z= i 58)
Executive Director, and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Ms. LI Xingying (ZE58, "Ms. Li"), aged 41, was appointed as an
executive Director in March 2017. Ms. Li has 16 years of experience
in burial services industry. Ms. Li joined the Group in November
2007. She has been serving as the legal representative and director
of Langfang City Wantong Funeral Services Co., Ltd. (BB T & iR 7B
ZERTE AR A F)), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Wangtongyuan Investment since March 2017. She also has been
serving as an executive director of Langfang Wantong since May
2015. Before joining the Group, she served as a clerk and cashier of
Wan Tong Yuan from March 1999 to September 2000 and a
salesperson in Langfang City Property Development Co., Ltd. (EE¥5TH
W EEMEERAF]) from September 2000 to March 2003.
From March 2003 to October 2005, Ms. Li served as the marketing
manager of Wan Tong Yuan, being responsible for the overall
management of the customers’ services center and business
administration thereof. Ms. Li served as the general manager of Wan
Tong Yuan from October 2005 to November 2007 and the executive
general manager of Langfang Wantong from November 2007 to May
2015. Ms. Li has been the sole executive director, legal
representative and general manager of Langfang Wantong since May
2015.

In November 2016, Ms. Li took the 35th Training Class of Modern
Cemetery in China and President Workshop (E=+HEZ2EIIHK R
HERIEI T2 AEMEHE), which was organized by China Funeral
Association (R B & 215 ).
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HUANG Guangming (& & BA)
Executive Director

Mr. HUANG Guangming (= F&R3, “Mr. Huang”), aged 45, was
appointed as an executive Director in March 2017. Mr. Huang has
more than seven years of experience in burial services industry. Mr.
Huang rejoined the Group as a deputy general manager of Langfang
Wantong in September 2013. Mr. Huang served as the human
resources manager of Langfang City Property Development Co., Ltd.
(M EEEREBRAF) from June 2004 to November
2007, the deputy general manager of Langfang Wantong from
November 2007 to June 2010 and the general manger of Chengde
Yonglun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (@& k@ EhEMEA
[R 2 &]) from June 2010 to September 2013. From time to time, Mr.
Huang supervised the operation of the purchasing center of
Langfang City Property Development Co., Ltd. (EB37 13k [& = 3 2 B9
B R AF)) during September 2013 and March 2017, which was a
part-time position only.

Mr. Huang received associate (K =) level education in marketing
from Hebei University of Science and Technology (it &} A E2)
and graduated from the same university in July 2001.

CHEUNG Ying Kwan (5% & 1)
Independent non-executive Director

Mr. CHEUNG Ying Kwan (5K f&#, “Mr. Cheung”), aged 60, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in September
2017. Mr. Cheung has more than 20 years of experience in finance
and accounting. Mr. Cheung has been the company secretary of
China Mental Resources Utilization Limited (FF B¢ /& & R F A A R
A 7], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
1636) since February 2014. Mr. Cheung served as the financial
controller of Gushan Environmental Energy Limited (512 R 4EE A
fR 2 &]) from March 2006 to August 2013, the qualified accountant
and company secretary of Goldigit Atom-tech Holdings Limited (&2
B FRFIERAER AR (currently known as Jinchuan Group
International Resources Co. Ltd. (&I EERBEERER AR, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 2362) from
April 2001 to March 2006, an independent non-executive director of
Beijing Chunlizhengda Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (3t T &7 IE
EBRBEEMAMBR2AA, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
with stock code 1858) from March 2015 to March 2018, an
independent non-executive director of ZACD Group Ltd (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 8313) from December
2017 to January 2019 and an independent non-executive director of
Gold-Finance Holdings Limited (& # %R AE R A 7], a company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code 1462) from February 2016 to
May 2019. Mr. Cheung has been an independent non-executive
director of Tian Shan Development (Holding) Limited (k1L 2% & (%
f%) B R A F], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 2118) since June 2010.
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Mr. Cheung has been a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since November 2000 and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since April 1995. Mr. Cheung obtained a diploma in
fabric manufacturing from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
September 1981.

WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (E 7k ##)
Independent non-executive Director

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (£ k#, “Dr. Wong”), aged 68, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of
audit committee and the chairman of remuneration committee in
September 2017. Dr. Wong has approximately 24 vyears of
experience in accounting. Dr. Wong has a broad range of experience
serving as an independent non-executive director of various listed
companies, including China VAST Industrial Urban Development
Company Limited (FEIZZFREXEMHEEEBRQR], a company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code 6166) since August 2014,
APAC Resources Limited (S8 K EJRAB MR A A, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange with stock code 1104) since July 2004, Solargiga
Energy Holdings Limited (f% % g2 R =R B R A 7, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code 757) since January 2008,
China Merchants Land Limited (B R EHER AR, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 978) since June 2012,
Capital Finance Holdings Limited (H# & @M ZERBER A 7, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 8239) since
January 2018, China Medial & HealthCare Group Limited (9 Bl & f&
48 B BRAF], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 383) since December 2018, and Dexin China Holdings
Company Limited ({5 B =& B MR A &), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 2019) since January 2019. He
served as a principal consultant of KND & Co. CPA Limited (T &E&
STEE R AT AR A E]) from April 1994 to December 2017. Dr. Wong
has been appointed as a principal consultant of KND Associates CPA
Limited, Hong Kong (7@ A& 5T B 1T A BR 2 &) since January 2018.

Dr. Wong received a degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Business
Administration from the Bulacan State University, Republic of the
Philippines in December 2010. Dr. Wong is a member of the
following institutions, including: a fellow member of The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators; a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries; a fellow member of
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong; a member of the Hong Kong
Securities Institute; a fellow member of Association of International
Accountants; a fellow member of Society of Registered Financial
Planners; a member of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators; an
associate member of The Chartered Institute of Bankers in Scotland;
and a full member of Macau Society of Certified Practicing
Accountants.
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Notwithstanding Dr. Wong’s engagement as an independent non-
executive director of another seven companies listed on the Stock
Exchange, Dr. Wong confirmed that he would devote sufficient time
to act as the independent non-executive Director based on the
following:

o Dr. Wong is neither a full time member of the above-named
companies nor involved in the day-to-day operations or
management of such companies. As such, he has no executive
and management responsibility therein;

o Dr. Wong is primarily required to attend relevant board
meetings, committee meetings and shareholders’ meetings of
the above-named listed companies. He has maintained a high
attendance rate for board meetings, committee meetings and
shareholders’ meetings for such listed companies during the
respective latest financial periods since his appointment dates;

o Dr. Wong's role as a principal consultant of KND Associates CPA
Limited is on a part-time basis and he does not involve in the
daily management of KND Associates CPA Limited;

o with his background and experience, Dr. Wong is fully aware
of the responsibilities and expected time involvements for
independent non-executive director. He has not found
difficulties in devoting to and managing his time with
numerous companies and he is confident that with his
experience in being responsible for several roles, he will be
able to discharge his duties to the Company;

o none of the above-named listed companies that he has
directorship with has questioned or complained about his time
devoted to such companies; and

o Dr. Wong's role in the Group is non-executive in nature and he
will not be involved in the daily management of the Group's
business, thus his engagement as the independent non-
executive Director will not require his full-time participation.

Based on the foregoing, the Directors do not have reasons to believe
that the various positions currently held by Dr. Wong will result in
Dr. Wong not having sufficient time to act as the independent non-
executive Director or not properly discharging his fiduciary duties as
a director of the Company.
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CHOI Hon Keung, Simon (%2;% 58)
Independent non-executive Director

Mr. CHOI Hon Keung, Simon (Z#3&, “Mr. Choi”), aged 59, was
appointed as an independent non-executive director in September
2017. Mr. Choi has more than seven years of experience in
corporate governance. Mr. Choi served as an independent non-
executive director of Kenford Group Holdings Limited (1@ 5 125 i%
ABRAF], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
464) from August 2011 to September 2017, and an independent
non-executive director of Boyaa Interactive International Limited (&
WEEHHBE AR AR, a company listed on the Stock Exchange with
stock code 434) since October 2013.

Mr. Choi obtained a bachelor's degree in laws from Peking
University (It /XK &) in 1991 and a master’s degree in laws from
The University of London in 1992. Mr. Choi received his Common
Professional Examination Certificate in Laws and Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong in June 1994
and September 1995, respectively. Mr. Choi was admitted as a
solicitor in Hong Kong and the UK in November 1997 and June
1998, respectively.

Senior Management

Our senior management is
management of our business.

responsible for the day-to-day

Mr. YU Minghua (5 BB %)

Mr. YU Minghua (5RBB %, “Mr. Yu"), aged 42, joined the Group in
February 2016. Mr. Yu is currently the chief executive officer of the
Company and a deputy general manager of Langfang Wantong,
being responsible for product development and business expansion of
the Group. He has also been serving as the general manager of
Wangtongyuan Investment since March 2017, being responsible for
general operation and management of the company. Mr. Yu has
more than four years of experience in burial and funeral services
industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yu served as the deputy
general manager of Guangxi Huazuyuan Investment Co., Ltd. (E7
FEHEEREBR QA from May 2013 to September 2014 and a
deputy project general manager of Puyang Hualong District
Longxiang Cemetery Park Co., Ltd. (S MR ELERER A
7]) from March 2010 to February 2011.

From September 2009 to December 2010, Mr. Yu received a burial
services training at Changsha Social Work College (3% R BB % &
i 2 53).
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LIU Fengxue (2Bl £2)

Mr. LIU Fengxue (ZIBl£, "Mr. Liu"), aged 38, joined the Group in
November 2007. Mr. Liu is currently the vice president of general
administration of the Company and a deputy general manager of
Langfang Wantong, being responsible for the daily operation and
general management of the Group. Mr. Liu has more than 16 years
of experience in logistical and corporate support. After joining the
Group, Mr. Liu served as the head of security in Langfang Wantong
from November 2007 to June 2016, and he was promoted as the
head of logistical support department and deputy general manager
of Langfang Wantong in July 2010 and June 2016, respectively. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Liu served as the head of security team of
Lanshuiwan Property Management (E57K&%) %) of Langfang City
Hengtai Services Co., Ltd. (BB¥H M IE R R B B R 2 ) from
November 2002 to November 2007.

CHU Yunli (&8 Z F))

Mr. CHU Yunli (# Z %, “Mr. Chu"), aged 48, joined the Group in
November 2007. Mr. Chu is currently the financial controller of the
Company, being responsible for the overall management of financial
reporting and cost management of the Group. Mr. Chu has been the
financial controller at Langfang Wantong since he joined the Group.
Mr. Chu has ten years of experience in corporate finance.

Mr. Chu attended correspondence courses (F4#%) and received his
associate degree (K) in accounting from Beijing Institute of
Business (1t 5 &%) (currently known as Beijing Technology and
Business University (1t 5/ T B A £2)) in July 1997.

GAO Ping (&%)

Ms. GAO Ping (&3, “Ms. Gao”), aged 38, joined the Group in
November 2007 and has more than 15 years of experience in
customer services and marketing. Ms. Gao is currently the vice
president of marketing of the Company and has been the marketing
manager of Langfang Wantong since its establishment, being
responsible for the overall management of the marketing department
of the Group. She has also been a supervisor of Wangtongyuan
Investment since March 2017, being responsible for monitoring and
overseeing the company’s financial matters and supervising the
conduct of the board of directors and senior management. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Gao served as the sales executive of Wan
Tong Yuan from October 2005 to November 2007 and the
marketing manager of Langfang Economic and Technological
Development Area Yongsheng Real Estates Development Co., Ltd.
(BB R XAEMERZEARAA) from November 2003 to
October 2005.
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Ms. Gao attended correspondence courses (EK#) and obtained her
associate degree (KXZ) in Physical Education from Hebei Institute of
Physical Education (A1t 88 & £Fx) in July 2003.

TANG Chun Man Adam (BB £ x2)

Mr. TANG Chun Man Adam (881£ 32, “Mr. Tang”), aged 32, was
appointed as the chief financial officer and company secretary of the
Company in February 2019, being responsible for the overall
financial management of the Group and advising the Board on
corporate governance matters. Mr. Tang has extensive experience in
auditing, financial planning and analysis and accounting.

Mr. Tang holds a bachelor’s degree in Professional Accountancy from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Tang is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Principal Activities and Analysis of
Operations

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group was
principally engaged in the sale of burial plots and columbarium
units, provision of other burial-related services and provision of
cemetery maintenance services.

Business Review and Performance

A fair review of the Group’s business, an indication of likely future
development in the Group's business, an analysis using financial key
indicators as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) can be found in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” section, which forms part of this Directors’ Report of
this annual report.

Results

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 69 of this annual report.

Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil). The Company is not
aware of any arrangements under which a shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

Financial Summary

The summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group is set out on page 4 of this annual report.

Key Risks and Uncertainties Facing by the
Group

The followings are part of the key risks and uncertainties identified
by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition
to those shown below which are not known to the Group or which
may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.

The Group operate one cemetery in Langfang and any significant
downturn of the regional economy or changes in local regulatory
regime or burial practices could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. The
management regularly review and adapt our services to cater to the
customs and preferences of the local residents in order to retain
existing customers and to attract prospective customers.
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The death care industry in China, subject to the strict requirement of
relevant regulations imposed by the government, is a highly
regulated industry. There are strict restrictions on licenses and land
supply which pose risks and uncertainties on the Group’s business
expansion. The Group have adopted internal guidelines to ensure
that the sale of burial plots to living customers satisfy these
conditions as required by the relevant laws.

There are uncertainties associated with the expansion of our
business. The successful implementation of our expansion strategies
may be influenced by various factors such as our ability to identify
suitable business opportunities or expansion plans on our cemetery,
to obtain government and other third-party consents, permits and
licenses that are required to operate our business. The expansion of
our burial services is also dependent on customer satisfaction and
our marketing efforts. In order to maintain growth in our business,
it may be necessary for the Group to implement marketing initiatives
to create public awareness and acceptance of our services.

Key Relationships with Employees,
Customers and Suppliers

The Group recognises that employees are one of the significant
assets of the Group. The Group aims to continue establishing a
caring environment to employees and emphasise the personal
development of its employees. The Group maintains a good
relationship with our customers and suppliers. The Group aims to
continue providing quality products and services to our customers
and establishing co-operation strategy with our suppliers.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group’s
subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong
and China. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Group's subsidiaries in China while the Group also has a corporate
and administrative office in Hong Kong. Our establishments and
operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands, China
and Hong Kong. During the year under review, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of
the Company’s Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Investment Properties

The Group's Investment properties represented the land parcel of
Langfang City Funeral Parlour, which is leased to a third party from
January 2015 to December 2020. Details of the movements in
investment properties of the Group are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

Movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year
under review and as at 31 December 2019 are set out in note 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Share Premium and Reserves

Movements in the share premium and reserves of the Group during
the year under review are set out on page 72 in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

The Company do not have any distributable reserves as at 31
December 2019 (2018: RMB4,113,000).

Charitable Donations

During the vyear ended 31 December 2019, the Group made
approximately RMB881,000 charitable donations (2018: Nil).

Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the single largest
customer accounted for 39.3% of the Group’s revenue (2018: no
single customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue). Revenue from the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 41.4% of the Group's total revenue (2018: did not
account for 30% or more of the Group’s total revenue). Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
84.8% (2018: 80.1%) of the total purchases for the Year and
purchases from the single largest supplier 61.2% (2018: 59.1%) of
the Group’s total purchases.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, none of the Directors,
their close associates, nor any of the Shareholders of the Company
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the five
largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

Remuneration Policy and Retirement Benefits
of the Group

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 59 employees
(31 December 2018: 62 employees). The Group provides employees
with competitive remuneration and benefits, and the remuneration
policy will be reviewed on a regular basis based on the performance
and contribution of the employees and the industry remuneration
level. In addition, the Group also provides various training courses to
enhance the employees’ skills and capabilities in all aspects. Details
of the Group’s the retirement benefit plans are set out in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2019 and up to the date of this report were:

=

HZE2019F12A3HLEFEREZEARER S
RARZEEZREBNT

Name of Director Position

EEHR B AL

Zhao Ying Non-executive Director and Chairman
=R | FHITESHRERE

Li Xingying Executive Director

T HEH WITESF

Huang Guangming
= EH

Cheung Ying Kwan
o JE 151

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert
FoxiE

Choi Hon Keung, Simon

FE R

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 33 to 39 of this annual report.

All Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years which
may be extended as each and the Company may agree, subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
("AGM") in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company. Article 108 of the articles of association of the Company
provides that at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

Change of Information of Directors

Below are changes of directors’ information required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules from the Listing Date to the date of
this annual report:

On 12 September 2017, Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon (¥%%38)
resigned as an independent non-executive director of Kenford Group
Holdings Limited (348 & B X B R A 7)) (@ company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 0464).
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On 1 January 2018, 6 December 2018 and 11 January 2019, Dr.
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert (£ 5k#) was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Capital Finance Holdings Limited (& #0< g4
P2R% A BR A A)) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 8329), China Medical & HealthCare Group Limited (9 B %8 /&
448 B BR A A)) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 383) and Dexin China Holdings Company Limited ({2 {5 # B 2
& B R A7) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 2019) respectively.

On 16 March 2018, 31 January 2019 and 15 May 2019, Mr.
Cheung Ying Kwan (3& FE3#) has resigned as the independent non-
executive director of Beijing Chunlizhengda Medical Instruments Co.,
Ltd. QR &Y FEEERMARM AR QA (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange with stock code 1858), ZACD Group Ltd (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 8313) and
Gold-Finance Holdings Limited (&= ABBR A F]), (@ company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 1462).

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with any member of the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one vyear
without the payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director or an entity
connected with him/her or Controlling Shareholder of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the financial year or at any time during the financial year
under review.

Directors’ Rights to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year under
review, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18,
were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities
of the Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any
such right.
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Directors’ and Chief executive’s Interests in
Shares

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of each
of the Directors and chief executive in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or which were required to be recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, were as follows:

EERBSTBRAERRO 2ER

R2019F12A31B  EERERTTHRAEHER
RABREFMABE EZE (EERFHLBAEKH
(IBHRBEE]) BEXVI) 2R H - HERG &
EREFFHREEAREESFRBEBRONEXVIHEIR
SAMHMEARARAI BB R 2w AR (BIER
BEE LB EEDIB RGOS S ESRERE
EZEEmIKE) HREES KHE KA 5352
BBLHRARRFEZECMzERZ R AR
HARFE LM AR SRI0BMNE AR A LB 2
ERERABWT

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interests securities held shareholding
EEMR fEEME FEESHEE BREHENEI L
Ms. Zhao Ying (Note 2) Founder of a discretionary trust who can influence 700,000,000 (L) 70%
how the trustee exercises its discretion (Note 1) (Note 3)
A8 2 1 (M 5E2) RETEZA AIREZTEATER 700,000,000 (L) 70%
HiE#E 2 7R (B 5E1) (FF5E3)

Notes: M 3E

(1) The letter “L” denotes long position of the Shares of the Company.

(2) Ms. Zhao Ying is the chairman and non-executive Director of the
Company. She is the settlor, sole member of The Hope Trust's
protective committee and a beneficiary of The Hope Trust, which is a
discretionary trust and TMF (Cayman) Ltd. is the trustee of The Hope
Trust. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. wholly owns the entire share capital of Lily
Charm Holding Limited. Lily Charm Holding Limited wholly owns the
entire issued share capital of Tai Shing International Investment
Company Limited. Therefore, Ms. Zhao Ying is deemed to be
interested in the 700,000,000 Shares directly held by Tai Shing
International Investment Company Limited.

(3) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which would have to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
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provisions of the SFO) or which were required to be recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2019, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons/entities (not being Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to the
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, or who is,
directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
members of the Group.

B RAIFI2FRARENARRFEZERMZ
BmduRR  IRBELTRAMEIAMNEARR
AR PT 2 R BORE

TERRREADARG K EBERSD
ZHEBRKE

20196128318  HEEFA WAL/ B
(KRB EBRRSTERABRINRRMDKAIEE
RO HERBRIEES R EGRGIEXVIEEE2R3
DERIEXAARREE Z D IAE  HBRE
BENMBPEKRAIEIBFRELHEN ARG FTELE
Rt zERIAR  KEEXEEEEHRBRER
AIEMARATRARE NS EEMEMAEE
NAEIMBRRARG ERENETMEARNKRABEEIOY
A B o

Approximate

Number of percentage of

securities held shareholding

Name of Shareholder Nature of interests (Note 1) (Note 5)

HRE

FERESHE BHBE T

BREE LB ERftE (K &ET) (Bff 2£5)

Tai Shing International Beneficial owner (Note 2) 700,000,000 (L) 70%
Investment Company

Limited

ZRERREAR QA EmEA A (M5E2) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

Lily Charm Holding Limited Interest in a controlled Corporation (Notes 2, 3) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

Lily Charm Holding Limited — S EE = (32 - 3) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

TMF (Cayman) Ltd. Trustee (Notes 2, 3, 4) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

TMF (Cayman) Ltd. XA (F5E2 3+ 4) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Tai Shing International Investment Company Limited directly holds
700,000,000 Shares.

(3) Lily Charm Holding Limited holds the entire of issued share capital of
Tai Shing International Investment Company Limited, thus Lily Charm
Holding Limited is deemed to be interested in the 700,000,000 Shares.

o

() EXFEILIRFZEEALRROTHIETR

(2) HFEREREEFRRAFEEIEAF700,000,0008% 24
DA °

(3)  Lily Charm Holding Limited$% & Z= & BIFR % & AR
RNA2HE BITR/RA - BtLily Charm Holding
Limited # 18 /3 52700,000,0008% % 15 & % 5 # & -
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(4) TMF (Cayman) Ltd. is on the trusts of The Hope Trust, which is a
discretionary trust set up by Ms. Zhao Ying, the chairman and non-
executive Director of the Company. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. directly holds
the entire issued share capital of Lily Charm Holding Limited.
Therefore, TMF is deemed to be interested in 700,000,000 Shares.

(5) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2018.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Directors were
not aware of any other persons, except disclosed below under
“Other persons’ interests and short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company” other than the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debenture of the Company and its associated corporations which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any other members of the Group.

Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares
and Underlying Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2019, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons/entities (not being Directors or chief executive or
substantial shareholders of the Company) had, or were deemed to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:

(4) TMF (Cayman) Ltd. &The Hope TrustZ 25t A *
The Hope Trust B A AR EE#RIENITESHBL
TR 2 2S5 ° TMF (Cayman) Lid HERE A
Lily Charm Holding Limited 2 2 &8 2 87T IR A ©
It + TMF% 4% & #2700,000,0008% B {7 f A fE 25 »

G)y & » b & ®2018F12A31H B # 17 2
1,000,000,0000% fi% 15 5+ & -

B R EESN - 2019128318 BT X
[Ef ATRARAR KD RBERG 2 ES R
BlIFTHEEN ESHTABTEAMAL(ER
AIEFERERITBABRIN RAR T R EMBEE
B  BERD REREREEREEBIR
BEHFRBEEHEXVEEE2R3D FAIE AR AR
ARBEBEZHESENAR KB EES R E K
FEIB6H[ALERARAFE 2Bz ERIOX
B UREEREEEANERAAEMBER
TRARARSAEBTMEAMK B R RAIMNKREKR
GEREMEAERRAE(EI10% A FfEx -

B ATRARBIRD RIEERGD 2 #xm
Kok &

20196128318 MEEHM - U TAL B
(KRB EBERRBTHRABREZRERRING
OB EBROFHEB R REEBBREREF
N ERE GBI FEXVEL 52 M35 36 69 15 X 1A AR R &) #
B EmIORE  IREFSFLHEE 3360
HRBR AR GFECECH zEmAR

X

Number of Percentage of

Shares held shareholding

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interests (Note 1) (Note 3)
FERGEE BEREBS K

BREL LB B REEHtE (BfF&E1) (B =£3)
Fairich Trading Limited Beneficial owner 82,960,000 (L) 8.3%
REEZHER A BmEA A 82,960,000 (L) 8.3%
Ms. Xing Junying Interest in a controlled corporation 82,960,000 (L) 8.3%

(Note 2)
MEELZ+ EEEERER (MHE2) 82,960,000 (L) 8.3%
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) The letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.
() Fairich Trading Limited is directly wholly owned by Ms. Xing Junying.

(3) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation other than the
Directors, the chief executive and substantial shareholders of the
Company who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debenture of the
Company and its associated corporations which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Competing Interests

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the
Directors nor the Controlling Shareholder nor any of their respective
close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or may
compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interest which any such person has or may have with the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Deed of Non-Competition

The INEDs and the rest of the Board reviewed the confirmation
provided by each of the Controlling Shareholders and confirmed that
they have reviewed the compliance with the terms of the Deed of
Non-competition dated 7 September 2017 and 5 December 2019 by
the Controlling Shareholders and the enforcement of the
undertakings (the “Undertakings”) given by the Controlling
Shareholders under the Deed of Non-competition and are satisfied
that all of the Undertakings were complied with by the Controlling
Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Connected Transactions and Related Party
Transactions

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of these related party transactions were
subject to the disclosure requirements of connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Period.

B E -

() HEXFE[LIRFZER/ATRBROPEEAR -

2 REEFERAAAMERZLIERZEHRS -
El

o b 3% 2019128310 B B 17 2
1,000,000,0000% % 15 51 & °

@)

B EXATREES - 20195128310 - BT
MBEETMEMALTHRAR(ARAEE - &517
BAEBREZERRRIN RAA T R EMEEE B R
mAERDREREREEIRIEEBRESR
5 R BB E GBI EXVERE2 X350 IE XA R AR T
BRE2ERSOKE  JRBEESR KBS K %336
BEDERARGEEZECMZERIKE -

R N K

BEHETME HE2019F128318ILFEE - AR
RIEERERBRRURFEESANERHEA(E
ER TR EEEAEEESFEFHAETF
MEMESIREZESESPHER R MERRE
SEALAEEEMAEEFGSE-

FHRBEE

BN TEERERESYENECENFTER
BRRAEZSRENER TERESDEHRE
% A% 58 3 <F H Hi 220179 9A7H &2019F 12 A5H
BB FRBRRBERL U RERBREEZR
BTEHAGZNETER  LEMNERRENE
E2019F12A3MBIEFE  —HETHARE

HEXZREBAIRS

AEBEZRE2019FN2A3MBILEFE BB IS
HRNAMHYEBRRWT - MEZSHEB LS
BELITRVBETHERIRFEFERIN
WEMT -

EEEN

RAME SET YA FEETMEARF 2K
EMEAXRBLED ZERRITRAL
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Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company or the laws of Cayman Islands, the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, and there is no
restriction against such rights which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors are entitled to
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their respective offices, provided
that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may attach to such Director. The
Company has purchased and maintained Directors’ liability insurance
during the year under review, which provides appropriate coverage
for the Directors.

Equity-Linked Agreement

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Environment Policy

The Company is committed to support environmental sustainability.
The Company encourages environmental protection and adheres to
the principle of recycling and reducing, including encouraging
double-sided printing and copying, setting up recycling bins,
promoting using recycled paper and reducing energy consumption by
switching off idle lightings and electrical appliance. The Company
will review its environmental practices from time to time and will
consider implementing further eco-friendly measures in the operation
of the Group’s businesses. The Company will publish its
environmental, social and governance report on an annual basis in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Sufficient Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float of not
less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.
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Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering

Since the date of Listing and up to 31 December 2019, part of the
net proceeds has been applied to use according to the Prospectus.
The amount of unused net proceeds as at 1 January 2019 and 31
December 2019 were approximately RMB31.2 million and RMB25.7
million respectively.

Reasons for Deviation from the Original
Business Strategies

Strengthening the market position in Langfang

Since the GEM Listing, the Group has been planning to upgrade its
facilities and monitoring system to keep up with the evolving market
and to improve the security level of the cemetery. However, during
the implementation of the upgrading plans, there were certain
delays due to (i) the Group’s prudent approach for the continuous
upgrades of the main entrance area and roads and passages in the
cemetery, and the building of a platform to conduct public memorial
ceremonies; and (i) the lengthy negotiation procedures with certain
external services providers for details of service contracts. Further, the
Group had also deferred its plan of developing new sectioned burial
areas as the Group inclined to devote more efforts in developing the
new columbarium units in order to cater to the growing demand of
the columbarium collective storage services as a result of the
redevelopment plan of the local government being actualized phase
by phase according to the schedules.

The Directors are of the view that the Group’s competitiveness is
established by word of mouth and customers are more inclined to
opt for burial services providers who offer high-quality burial services
in wide range of burial plot designs across sectioned burial areas
featured in landscaped cemeteries and pricing choices, for the
memory and respect of the deceased, which is of great importance
in the traditional Chinese culture. Therefore, the Directors believe
that by (i) developing new sectioned burial areas, for example, Pine
Garden and areas for artistic burial plots, to provide more choices to
customers with higher purchasing power; and (i) acquiring additional
machineries, such as waste incinerators, lawn movers and sprinkler
trucks, to improve the overall scenery of the cemetery as well as the
efficiency of the operation performance by 2020, would enable the
Group to capture the growth in the burial services market as there
will be growing demand for death care services during such period.
Coupled with the implementation of the other business strategies,
the Group expects that the increasing awareness of the brand “Wan
Tong Yuan” elicited by the widespread recognition from the
customers would further boost its market position in Langfang.

PHRBEEMEBRERE

B W HEEEREZE2019F12A318 - 5 ME
REFHECARNBRERMAME SR - R2019F1
A1 K2019F12A3MB ZREAMEBHIEFES
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Expanding the business scope of the Group to provide
funeral services

Alongside commencement of its funeral services business by end of
2017 as stated in the Prospectus, the Group initially planned to
cooperate with the existing Langfang Funeral Parlor operated by the
local government to promote its funeral services. While continually
refining its plans and implementation details in respect of such
cooperation during the second half of 2017, the Group had, in the
meantime, shortlisted and visited various potential sites for the
construction of its own funeral services center. Unfortunately,
agreement was not reached with the landlords due to the nature of
the Group’s industry. In early 2018, the Group was aware of the
local government'’s plan to build a new funeral parlor to replace the
existing one. Further information of such plan was not released by
the local government until late 2018 but with no details of the
scope of services to be offered by the new funeral parlor. As the
provision of burial and funeral services is highly regulated in the
PRC, the Group has made continuous efforts to communicate with
the local government so as to minimize any potential conflict or
duplication between the services to be provided by the government'’s
new funeral parlor and the funeral services center to be built up by
the Group. Such conflict and duplication could pose uncertainties to
the Group’s mode of operation in the funeral services market. In
order to reduce such uncertainties, the Group slowed down the
establishment of its own new funeral services center pending more
clarity of the government’s plan on its new funeral parlor. In 2019,
as the local government had yet to release updates for the concrete
timeline and details for the development of the new funeral parlor,
the management of the Group believed that the new funeral parlor
may not be ready for operation within the next few years, which
would not be ideal for the Group to further delay the provision of
funeral services until then. As such, the Group decided to move
forward and is looking for a suitable venue for the provision of the
funeral services, performing development planning and design of the
center, and it would obtain the approval from the relevant
government authorities prior to the development. Currently, the
management of the Group expects that the construction of the
center to be completed by the end of 2020. Before that, the Group
plans to start marketing its funeral services and lease temporary
venues for the early stage of its provision of the relevant services,
such as certain areas within the Langfang Funeral Parlor or other
suitable venues in Langfang. Meanwhile, the Group also plans to
broaden its cooperation with the existing funeral services providers
(e.g. shroud stores) and set up customer services spots at their stores
to promote the one-stop-shop services integrating funeral and burial
services. In addition, after reaching out to more prospective
customers and with its well-trained staff in the provision of funeral
services, the Group plans to leverage its team and operating
experiences to collaborate with the local government and seek ways
to complement the funeral services provided by the new funeral
parlor after the commencement of its operation.
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Tapping further into the burial market in the
Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis & pursuing strategic
alliance and acquisition opportunities

Since the GEM Listing, the Company has performed preliminary site
visits and researched for some potential acquisition opportunities for
the purpose of pursuing strategic alliance and acquisition
opportunities according to the future plans under the Prospectus.
However, the Company hardly found suitable acquisition
opportunities to proceed with and at present it is at a preliminary
selection stage that no agreement has been entered into as at the
Latest Practicable Date, which was primarily due to: (i) concern over
the relatively high pricing after the Group had assessed the potential
targets by considering a number of factors, among others, the
profitability, sustainability, brand name and operating efficiency; and
(ii) concern over compliance with the relevant laws and regulations,
in particular the legal titles of the land use rights of the cemeteries,
so as to ensure a stable development after the acquisition of the
potential targets. As at the Latest Practicable Date, under the
premises of commercial viability and high standards of regulatory
compliance, the Company is still proactively seeking suitable strategic
alliance and acquisition opportunities. The Group has been investing
time and effort to build its brand awareness for the purpose of
strengthening its market position in Langfang and capturing the
growth in the nearby markets.

The Group had been liaising with multiple Beijing-based funeral
services providers, including primarily shroud stores and funeral
ceremony services providers, and since 2017, the Group had
successfully built cooperation and partnership with them, mainly for
referring customers and marketing of the Group’s cemetery and
burial services. The Directors believe that customers’ brand
awareness is important for the Group to strengthen its market
position in Langfang and expand its business nearby, thus moving
onwards, the Group aims to further boost its network in the JingJin-
Ji megalopolis by partnerships establishment, brand promotion and
provision of one-stop-shop services integrating funeral and burial
services.

The Directors believe that the delay in the implementation or due
adjustments of its business plans would not have material adverse
impact on the Group since the current implementation plans are
better aligned with the Group’s development.
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An analysis of the utilization of the net proceeds from the listing B L™ A M EE2019F 128318 AAEXR
date up to 31 December 2019 and the expected use of net proceeds IBF4E K2020F FEHFTB R B FEA B Z O H
in 2020 is set out below: AT

Planned use of net

proceeds as stated Actual use of
in the Prospectus net proceeds Expected use
up to 30 June up to of net proceeds
2019"¢ 31 December 2019 in 2020
BE2019%
6A30H B 220195
RERERFMA 124318 2020%
FEREREZ FEREFEZ BItERA
REmRg" BERAR FHEZAR
RMB RMB RMB
AR AR® AR
Strengthening our market position in FENBH TS0 14.6 million 9.0 million 5.6 million
Langfang T46BET 9.0BETT S6RSTT
Expanding our business scope to provide — EAEHEHE  REEE RS 9.1 million 0.8 million 8.3 million
funeral services 9GIHETT 088 &L 83HETT
Tapping further into the burial market RABRREEANTEEZEM S - FN
in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis & pursuing ~ E{REEEE R UrEE ik &
strategic alliance and acquisition 12.7 million 0.9 million 11.8 million
opportunities NIEEL 09BETT TM8HETL

Note: Figures in this column are adjusted based on the actual amount of net  Fit : It 5| € S HIZGEM E TS NE FEMNE KR © 58

proceeds received from the GEM Listing. The difference between the ARG zZ2BE - MEREFENERSFTHEABR
actual amount of net proceeds received and the expected amount ERBENEHcE ANEZEI2RBREARBR
disclosed in the Prospectus was allocated on a pro rata basis with EENSEB S LIREAISE -

reference to the percentage of allocation set out in the Prospectus.
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BUSINESS OBJECTIVES, ACTUAL BUSINESS %i’% B BERERERRFEHR
PROGRESS AND EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS

An analysis comparing the business objectives as set out in the ?ﬁﬂxa&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ EHAEEG EMHEBE
prospectus with the Group’s actual business progress for the period 2019412831 H MM BER EKER Z LB DT
from listing date to 31 December 2019 as well as the expected AR R20205F A i ZE & 700

development for 2020 is set out below:

Strengthening the Market Position in Langfang =2 [E 70 BR 3 /Y T 45 ML

Implementation Plan

Bt &

Business Progress up to the 31 December 2019 Expected Development for 2020
Z2019F12A3MAMEREE R2020F W EHIR R

(i) Upgrading the
environment and roads
in the cemetery and
developing new
sectioned burial area
AREENRERBEREU
RBERFNEETERE

Designing and constructing
burial plots

Rt R EM

Designing and constructing
family graves, tree burial
services and flower burial
services

BT RERREEE  HHER
BRI EE RS

Constructing sculptures for sea

burial services

2 ik 2R AR T R 2R

Designed and constructed the family graves in crypt- Continue to design other burial

style and hill-style services and develop burial plots,
ERARESHEARNEARER carrying out relevant construction
for flower burial, tree burial and
Designed sea burial services and sculptures for sea other burial services, and
burial services and designed wall burials prefabricated burial plots
BRI REEREME - TR BERGTEMBERBEREREZ

Mo EITEEE  BIEREME
Carrying out relevant construction for flower burial ~ ZERSHMABEER  RFEEE
and tree burial services as well as relevant burial
plots according to customers’ requirements from Making customized burial plots

time to time according to customers’
BIBREFERTEHEITEIBEREERBIUAKRER  requirements from time to time
EimHBEER BEEPERTREETREN

Designed and started providing flower burial and
tree burial services
ARETI0BA IR IR L IE 1B 2R IR A ZE IR 7
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Implementation Plan

BiEstE

Business Progress up to the 31 December 2019

EZF2019512A31B MEKEE

Expected Development for 2020
R2020F WA EE

Upgrading the environment of
the sectioned burial areas
and roads in the cemetery

AREREEERNIRER
FERES

Upgrading the main entrance
area and roads of cemetery
AREERMEADRRBEE

Upgrading the gardening,
designing and building the
landscape connecting
different sectioned burial
areas in the cemetery

AREREE KR EREE
EEZBRANITRETERD
=8

Constructing and polishing an
artificial hill in the northern
part of the cemetery

TR ERERILERL

Building waterscape with
Chinese traditional cultural
elements

BERAETEESRIETERN

K=

Upgrading the monitoring
system of the cemetery
ARERERZRZR

Designing memorial for the
body donors
RETERBBREL SR

Building a platform to conduct
public memorial ceremonies
gAML RETE

Upgraded the main entrance area and roads and
passages of the western part of the cemetery
EAREREAARREERAEBE

Completed the gardening and building of the
landscape connecting different sectioned burial
areas

ExKEZENREERERANTNRETERD

= df
P

Designed memorial for the body donors
ERsHEgBREL R

Upgraded for the greening appearance of main
entrance of the cemetery is underway

THREEE AL ETTH
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Upgrading the passages of the
northern part of the cemetery
FRERIEmBE

Beautifying the surrounding areas of
the artificial hill
FAE B L B BT 5 & 5

Setting up a cemetery services
center
RIBERBEH O

Building waterscape with Chinese
traditional cultural elements
BREEEHFRESRLITENKE

Building a platform to conduct
public memorial ceremonies
LR RETE

Designing and constructing
landscaping elements in the
cemetery to enhance the
cemetery environment

REREERITIERRBITEANR
ZHRERE



Directors’ Report
EER RS

Implementation Plan

Bt E

Business Progress up to the 31 December 2019

Z2019F12B31ENEBEE

Expected Development for 2020
R2020F B ERE

Developing Rose Garden,
Langfang Garden and artistic
burial areas

MERAZEER BHE RS
2@

(ii) Acquisition of additional
facilities and vehicles

BEHIRERER

Upgrading existing facilities and
machinery and purchasing
additional ones (such as
waste incinerators and lawn
mowers) for gardening and
interment rituals, if required
by business development

MEBERFTE  REBLZR
EEADEHEINRAREY
KA IR R B B3R A R
Kot 28

Renamed Rose Garden to Pine Garden and
sectioned more areas in the cemetery for further
development of burial plots. The design of Pine
Garden had been completed and the construction
is in progress. Part of the burial plots in Pine
Garden are already launched for sale

REEERRR/RE TETEZEERRENE—
FHRBEEM - RENRFE K MERIDEE
TH - MBHONEARNEME HELHEE

Artistic burial areas are under continuous
development
BMEREZFESRE

Purchased lawn mowers, sprinkler truck, and
purchased and installed incinerators
ERBERER ZRKEURERERZTERE

Purchased new equipment and constructed new
facilities, such as electricity system and water
wells

ERBENRELERE N RS MK FH R

Continue to develop and complete
the construction of the entire
Pine Garden with more burial
plots available for sale

BEMERTHNERIERERDE 12
HEZAHEENEM

Continue to develop and beautify
artistic burial areas

BERBELEX(CEMER

Developing Langfang Garden
according to the market demand,
and considering to rename
Langfang Garden

RETHERFEBHER W IEE
EEREBE R

Purchasing a vehicle for the daily
operation of the cemetery and
machineries (such as lawn movers
and other machinery and
equipment) according to the
development of the cemetery

REZENZERAISHW LK
(FIanE B - E b AR &)
EEEREEREZH
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EERRE
Expanding the Business Scope of the Group to Provide BAXNEEZBHBARHEBERRE

Funeral Services

Implementation Plan Business Progress up to the 31 December 2019

BEiTE EZE2019512A3MAMEBEE

Expected Development for 2020
R2020F W FEHI B R

(i) Locating, leasing, designing Service sites at Langfang Funeral Parlor have been
and constructing premises set up and staffs have been sent onsite
for the operation of funeral ER¥I T /B FEE M RE MBI D &R Y BB IRE LIE
services center and funeral A B %315
services store in the living
community Construction of the funeral hall at the cemetery has
Y A REREE been completed and the Group already started
AELERBERE T LM providing improved interment ritual services
RitRABEREENS TREXEESEEEASECHARMLEHRED
ith ZHERRE

Commenced promotion of funeral services

B RGEERERS

(i) Recruiting and training staff 10 people including the manager of the funeral

for provision of funeral services center have been recruited and over 10
services people have been provided with training
BEREINREBRERY EHREBREREPLEBELEEANNBERBEAR
WAE 10A - BEEEFIN0BR A

Started providing funeral ritual services in the
funeral hall at the cemetery
EREREENESEEBRETESHERS

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED = Bl & i [ (2 h%) B R 2 7]
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Leasing a venue, design and
construct the funeral services
center

HAMA Rt RBEBERS
Bl

Acquiring equipment relating to the
provision of funeral services

BERHEBEERBEBZRE

Selecting suitable venue for the first
funeral services store in Langfang
or Beijing, or seeking cooperation
with local partners to establish a
funeral services store

RES it Rk E SR BERE S
W& @S B REE B
SRR BERBE

Communicating with local
government and seeking
cooperation opportunities with
the new funeral parlor to be
established

BEMB AT BRI S KER TR
W BEENAFERS

According to demand from business
development, recruiting more
staff for funeral services center
and newly-established funeral
services store

BRERESERFTE REERBET
O R 3T ER S R TR 1 RS R R EE &
BIEZAR



Directors’ Report
EER RS

Implementation Plan

Bt E

Business Progress up to the 31 December 2019 Expected Development for 2020

EZF20195 128318 MEKEE

R2020FE AR E

(iii) Conducting marketing
activities for the Group's
funeral services via mass
media (such as
newspapers)
FARAERNRIELELT
EHEASEEREERGHE
845 B

Purchasing vehicles for funeral
rituals and other business
operation

REBEEANEMEBLLE
BEmH

A funeral vehicle and two electric vehicles have been

purchased
EBE SN BEHERWAERE

Media promotion for the funeral services center has

not been carried out yet

TR AR S o0 B £ B SR R R AT

Purchasing additional vehicle for
business operation

REBKEBERINER

Promoting online tomb sweeping
services and providing tomb
sweeping services on behalf of
customers, such as wreath
placing ceremony on behalf of
customers

HEAERERERRERRERE
PR flanETREBIEER

Promoting the funeral services
center via mass media

FMAARKEEEBRERSEH L

Expanding cooperation with those
Beijing-based funeral services
providers and mortuaries, and
carrying out marketing activities

R RBEE R HEE AT
& 1E WHETEHED
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EEg S

Tapping Further into the Burial Market in the Jing-Jin-Ji AANERAREATBIEZEMS - FIE
Megalopolis & Pursuing Strategic Alliance and Acquisition Hﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ&%ﬁﬁ%

Opportunities

Implementation Plan Business Progress up to the 31 December 2019

BREsTE EZE2019512A3MAMEBEE

Expected Development for 2020
R2020F W FEHI B R

(i) Liaising and cooperating The Group has liaised and started cooperation with

with more Beijing-based eight Beijing-based funeral services providers and
funeral services providers one hospital mortuary, while further marketing
and mortuaries activities are in progress

HPFZUYFTREREEE ASECH \REABERBEER L —EASRK
mERKEEBRXRKEEE K$ﬁmwﬁﬁ%é¢'ﬁﬁ—ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
HEITH

The Group is also negotiating with other potential
partners

AEBEFEAMEESFERHBR
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Expanding cooperation with those
Beijing-based funeral services
providers and mortuaries

AEREILRBEERGHEERN
REBHEIE

Carrying out marketing activities,
including sales referrals and
giving out leaflets to increase
brand awareness in Beijing

ETEHEY  BREEEERBK
Ik 35 15 B DA SR N A6 B bR
MmEE

Leveraging the Group's first store in
Beijing to extend cooperation
with funeral services providers in
other cities in the Jing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis

BEAEEEHIL RLEEREHA
FOREH T A A T e B R R
BHEBNAE

Continue to develop the Group's
brand through its network with
other funeral services providers in
the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis

FERAEEEURERTEEME
ERGEHERNARKESEEZRER
SEHmE



Directors’ Report
EER RS

Implementation Plan

Bt E

Business Progress up to the 31 December 2019

EZF20195 128318 MEKEE

Expected Development for 2020
R2020F B ERE

(ii) Establishing the first
Beijing-based store for
marketing purpose
R E EAL RS R S B AE

& i

(iii) Selecting potential targets
for acquisition and
conducting acquisition
BEWENELB R NE
THHE

Not set up yet
CE NV

The Group has conducted site visits to projects in
various regions such as Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei, etc.
A few projects were selected for further
investigation, and no agreement has been entered
into nor any initial payment has been made

AEEDHIER RE AL EL [ R FRHET
RG2S BETETEREEBET T —HH
& TE - BEAT AT e R E BRE

Setting up the first store of the
Group in Beijing for marketing,
together with promotion on the
Group's digital marketing channel

BUBHIEREEEREEHE I
HEEAESESHEEHE B

Continue to seek suitable sites in
Beijing and expand to other cities
in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis for
setting up more stores for
promoting the Group’s brand and
services

RBUBZREFEEBRIERSTK
BENME IR ERREET
B ELC i S5k 717 DA B AN £R [ ) am b8
K R 7

Seeking suitable strategic alliances
and acquisition opportunities
proactively, completing such
acquisition, forming strategic
alliance with suitable partners,
and making relevant investment
into the cooperation

TE 1% = 3 & 3 ) 8RS Bk BR Ko LA B

Interests of the Compliance Adviser

The Company has appointed Innovax Capital Limited (“Innovax
Capital”) to be the compliance adviser. As informed by Innovax
Capital, neither Innovax Capital nor any of its directors or employees
or associates, has or may have, any interest in the share capital of
the Company or any member of the Group (including options or
rights to subscribe for such securities), which is required to be
notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 3A.29 of the Listing Rules
and Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules, except for the compliance
adviser agreement entered into between the Company and Innovax
Capital dated 28 March 2017.

Auditors

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment, at the forthcoming AGM.

g ERABKE HAEAE

BHEKEREE YRAED
FHBERRE

EREENER
ARARCEREAEREERARA(ARBRED S
ERER - REAEREMSEHN  KRARQEHEA
PL&ELE 7 2017F3 A28 B RIS 80 & #7 8 Al 99 = 411
BAERMENEACMNEFTAREABBEALRNA
RAEARNEEEFARERANER(BHEBERES
MBRERRBRE) THEALEEERELTR
A FE3A290F R GEM L 7 17 Al B6A 32k A M & A
N Z AL o

= EEm

HE2019F 2R3 HEFEZAHYHHRRER
EH e HEM A CAMITE EBRERERRE
BERGEMT  WTEEREREMT-
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EERRS

Events occurred since the end of the
financial year

Since early 2020, the coronavirus epidemic (“the COVID-19
outbreak”) has spread across China, and it has to a certain extent
impacted the economic activities of the Group. As a burial services
provider in Langfang, Hebei Province, the Group’s revenue from
burial services is expected to decrease as compared to the same
period in 2019 due to the COVID-19 outbreak.

The management is still in the process of assessing the impacts of
the COVID-19 outbreak on the financial performance and position of
the Group and is currently unable to estimate the quantitative
impacts to the Group up to the date of these consolidated financial
statements, but will however closely monitor the development of the
COVID-19 outbreak and perform further assessment of its financial
impact.

By order of the Board

Li Xingying
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B M 2 BLEN ¥R

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Wan
Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to 140,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on this matter.

=ED

BPEEREZER)ARIARRK
(RHASHSEMKRIZZBRAA)
=R

EEE RN BNV HENFEOBEEFI40BZ2HFEHE
RE(ZER)BRAG([EAR] REKERQ A (5
BAEIBEBED ZAHYBHRE  ZSVBHERE
FER2019F 12A3MA 2 &6 B R A KR EEH ZEZ
HIEFEMEHERREMEEKER & 0H#
HmEHREEHBAERER UREHMBERRK
s BREXZSHBEHE-

ZERB ZECHVBRRAEREAERES:
ERREEe((BEeTERESE])BMHHBEER
MR ELEAN((ERVEREENDEEMAF
e EEEM2019F128318 24 H oKk
AR BEEBEZALEEZ2AHTERE
REAHBEESRE YEETEASREHME
BRTMEZERE -

RRE®
EEREBEEESEL((HERFERDETE
Z BEERSFENTHETEESFNREAZ
BEER M ERREAAENEE S —
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Independent Auditor’s Report
8 1z BUAD S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN ZHHEEWNEEER EBRAITRE(E)
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (RREHSTMKIZERAE)
Key Audit Matter (continued) ERETSE®

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BREEBSHEHE TENBENATEERRETSH

Revenue recognition for sales of burial
plots
EHENRARR

We identified the occurrence of revenue  Our procedures in relation to revenue from sales of burial plot included:
from sales of burial plots as a key audit EFRAEMHEENWATETHNRF B

matter due to the significance of the

amount and volume of sales transactions e Obtained an understanding of the key internal controls relevant to the
recognised during the year. sales of burial plot.

EERREEMEENRANBERTESR o TRREBEMHE R B R IES -

—IHBARENEE LI HARFARERL . Selected burial plot sales transactions on a sample basis and:

HEXGSERBARERK - . HMEEREMEERS R

Details of revenue from sales of burial —  examined the signed sales and purchase agreements to
plots are set out in note 5 to the understand the relevant terms in determining when the right to
consolidated financial statements. use burial plots has passed to customers.
EEMEENREFBEHRE B R — REERINEEGZ UNTHREHETEMERENMRHHE
RMIEES © RE PR

—  obtained evidence regarding the passing of the right to use burial
plots to customers.

— DRFHENCEAEEETEFPNER -

—  reconciled the amounts of recorded transactions and related
receipts to the signed sales and purchase agreements of burial

plots.
— HEARXSNHEEEEMEEEEHENEBYIIRE
THER -

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED = Bl & i [ (2 %) & R 2 7]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 £ #



Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2 B R A

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
8 1z BUAD S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
8 % BUAD S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2 R A

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lung Kwok Hung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
EOEREREMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

Year ended 31 December

HZEZ12A31B L EE
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
B 5 AR TR ARBTFT
Revenue g 5 63,377 43,385
Cost of sales and services 5 & M AR 7% A A (12,763) (6,954)
Gross profit £ H 50,614 36,431
Other income HAb Y A 6 4,906 10,328
Other gains H b Y = 7 1,061 2,461
Loss on fair value changes of BEAFEGFABED
financial assets at fair value CHMEEATE
through profit or loss #EEHE 16 (245) (2,796)
Gain on fair value changes of investment &%) % A F(EEF)
properties I 25 14 350 250
Distribution and selling expenses DR HER X (6,631) (5,648)
Administrative expenses THRHX (16,739) (5,726)
Profit before tax B Bt A1 5 A 8 33,316 35,300
Income tax expense FT 15 % & 10 (9,765) (7,053)
Profit and total comprehensive income for A2 &l A A fE(h
the year attributable to owners of the FREMNRZHE
Company W s 4B 58 23,551 28,247
Earnings per share B & A
Basic (RMB) ERARE) 11 0.024 0.028
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B OB B AR &

At 31 December 2019 #2019 12A31H

At 31 December

M12A831H
2019 2018
20194 20184
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Mo 5E ARE T AR F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BERRE 13 3,110 3,499
Investment properties REME 14 6,010 5,660
Cemetery assets EREE 15 8,333 9,081
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABED
profit or loss CREE 16 8,600 8,845
26,053 27,085
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18 19,273 2,001
Prepayments and other receivables AT FRIE R A At
JiE Uy % E 19 738 465
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 20 189,280 191,412
209,291 193,878
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBARE
Trade and other payables B 5 K& H A
KIE 21 13,409 9,470
Contract liabilities BHBE 22 7,687 9,096
Income tax payable BT AT 1,464 18,685
22,560 37,251
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZRE 186,731 156,627
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HWEERABAR
LIABILITIES 212,784 183,712
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B BRRR

At 31 December 2019 722019412 A31H

At 31 December

M12A831H
2019 2018
20195 20184
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
B A AR®T R ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kFRBEE
Contract liabilities EHBERE 22 58,192 52,697
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHERE 17 2,111 2,085
60,303 54,782
NET ASSETS BEEFEE 152,481 128,930
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERRGEE
Share capital A& A 24 66,192 66,192
Reserves ®E 25 86,289 62,738
Equity attributable to owners of AAREE AEMN
the Company ER 152,481 128,930
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 152,481 128,930

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 140 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24

March 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Li Xingying
DIRECTOR

Huang Guangming
DIRECTOR

5698 = 1408 M & #f B 7 3R 2 202063 A
LN EETe BRI RERT IHTWNESSH

== ¢

FHA
EF

BEEH
EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 12 A318 IEF[E

B EEEHR

Attributable to owners of the Company

EAREE AEN
Statutory
Share surplus Other Retained
capital reserve reserves earnings Total
EERR
&N G HipH % REEBF mm
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR%¥Tn AR%®Tn AR%®TrR AR%®Tx
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1A1H 66,192 4,043 1,309 29,139 100,683
Profit and total comprehensive F R Fl & 2 s
income for the year Feka) = — — 28,247 28,247
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve B Z AT A&
f# = 2,723 = (2,723) —
At 31 December 2018 2018%F12831H 66,192 6,766 1,309 54,663 128,930
Profit and total comprehensive F R Fl & 2
income for the year ki) = — — 23,551 23,551
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve B Z AT AH
8 = 3,005 = (3,005) =
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A31H 66,192 9,771 1,309 75,209 152,481
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EHBRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

Year ended 31 December

BZENAMMBLEE
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARBTFT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFTH
Profit before tax B 5 B A 33,316 35,300
Adjustments for: BATSEEL AR
Interest income 2 WA (1,916) (950)
Dividend income from equity investments & A 3% & &9 A% Bk A (800) (6,104)
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREBETE
plant and equipment 784 677
Amortisation of cemetery assets EREEEH 384 356
Gain on fair value changes of investment REMEATFEEH WA
properties (350) (250)
Loss on fair value changes of RAFEFABZHNSH
financial assets at fair value BEANTEZIHER
through profit or loss 245 2,796
Foreign exchange gains, net SN W 2 5 KR (1,032) (1,976)
Operating cash flows before movements in & EE & EFHA MWL ER
working capital mE 30,631 29,849
Increase in cemetery assets HEZEEL N (1,121) (345)
(Increase) decrease in inventories F& (g m) & 4 (15,787) 1,536
Increase in prepayments and other T8 5 5118 & H A FE U K18
receivables 3% 0 (273) (153)
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 K H h FE < 5RIBIE AN
other payables CRL ) 3,939 (2,574)
Increase in contract liabilities AR A EIL M 4,086 945
Cash generated from operations KSR S 21,475 29,258
Income tax paid BEREH (26,960) (4,357)
Net cash (used in) generated from operating #& & &8 (FTA) TSR & F 5
activities (5,485) 24,901
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHBEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

Year ended 31 December

BZENAMBLEE
2019 2018
2019% 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTFT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWME BFEREZE
equipment (395) (1,545)
Interest received 2 UHF B 1,916 950
Dividend income received from BRAFEFABEGZERE
financial assets at fair value EE URER A R B A
through profit or loss 800 6,104
Proceeds from disposal of HEZRAFEFAERZ
a financial asset at fair value CREENMBSRIEA
through profit or loss — 76,000
Repayment from a related party R T 1B K — 2,058
Net cash generated from investing activities & & & B FT{S3E & F 58 2,321 83,567
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEE
Repayment to related parties BT A — (752)
Net cash used in financing activities REFESMARSFE — (752)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and ReMRSEEY Ok A)E M
cash equivalents JF 58 (3,164) 107,716
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of F#RE&NKREEEY
the year 191,412 81,720
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEHNTE 1,032 1,976
Cash and cash equivalents at end FERURITER LB TR
of the year represented by bank balances e RREEFEEYD
and cash 189,280 191,412
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OF B 7% 3R K B &

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

GENERAL

China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands on 25
January 2017 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The shares
of the Company had been listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since
27 September 2017, and the listing of its shares was
transferred from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 17 December 2019. The address of the registered
office of the Company is 2nd Floor, the Grand Pavilion
Commercial Centre, 802 West Bay Road, P.O. Box 10338,
Grand Cayman KY1-1003, Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business is Baganqu North, Economic and
Technological Development Area, Langfang, Hebei Province,
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The principal
activity of the Company is investment holding. Its subsidiaries
are primarily engaged in the sale of burial plots and
columbarium units, provision of other burial-related services
and provision of cemetery maintenance services. The Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The ultimate holding company and immediate holding
company of the Company is Tai Shing International Investment
Company Limited (“Tai Shing International”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and
ultimately controlled by Ms. Zhao Ying (the “Ultimate
Controlling Shareholder”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") which is also the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (‘000) unless otherwise indicated.

—R&E R
PEEBREGER)AR2B(TRRRDR
2017F 1 A2SERBEREHERTERFAS
HEaMR I RERRER AR - KR A
f& 5 52017F9R27TH R B BB E X HFT
BRAF ([BEAZFT]) BIGEM LT+ i E AR 1n
M2019F 128178 HGEMEE =B X Fr £ 1Rk £
e H 5 #% F & 4t A2nd Floor, the
Grand Pavilion Commercial Centre, 802
West Bay Road, P.O. Box 10338, Grand
Cayman KY1-1003, Cayman Islands * =
EEEMIATEARLME ([HE]) AL
EBBMEERMAZERNATFERIL - AAF
MWEZEBKRZEER mMENBAREE
WEEM R B REREE « R E B2
AR R 2B BERL - KRB REME A A
GERIAEERE] -

ARAHREBIERARDRERERARRE
RERZES ((REBEZES ) EMRIZ
ARIFBBARKREERAR ((REER]) -
WA A% AR R (TR AR RRARR ) #E1 »

BB RRARRDR REKNE R R IEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs")

New and Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(the “IASB") for the first time in the current year:

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
IAS 19 Settlement

Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
IAS 28 Ventures

Amendments to Annual Improvements to IFRSs
IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

2.1 IFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied IFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. IFRS 16 superseded IAS 17 Leases ("IAS
17"), and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
IFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this
standard to contracts that were not previously identified
as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not
reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the
date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
January 2019, the Group applies the definition of a
lease in accordance with the requirements set out in
IFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract contains a
lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("lFRSS") (continued)

New and Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

2.1 IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee

The Group has applied IFRS 16 retrospectively with any
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2019.

Effective from 1 January 2019, leasehold lands which
were classified as cemetery assets are measured under
IFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses.

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 16,
the Group is not required to make any adjustment on
transition for leases in which the Group is a lessor but
account for these leases in accordance with IFRS 16
from the date of initial application and comparative
information has not been restated.

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to Definition of a Business?

IFRS 3

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
IFRS 10 and Investor and its Associate or Joint
IAS 28 Venture?

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Current or

IAS 1 Non-current®
Amendments to Definition of Material*

IAS 1 and

IAS 8

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?*
IFRS 9, IAS 39
and IFRS 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("lFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

- Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

> Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

In addition to the above new and amendments to IFRSs, a
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was
issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
IFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that
the application of all the new and amendments to IFRSs above
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment properties and
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at
the end of the reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 (since 1 January
2019) or IAS 17 (before application of IFRS 16), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 /nventories
or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of assets.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when *“control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with IFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations (sales of burial plots and provision of cemetery
maintenance services), the Group allocates the transaction
price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group
would sell a promised good or service separately to a
customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to
the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED = Bl & i [ (2 %) & R 2 7]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 £ #

3.

BEAGTHE®w

BEFP A QMK @)
BREERAEERRDNAEECEETE
2 78 o IR 5 T W B B Y R A (R AR
REARM) o EAR YR B BR B 75 3R 5 XE B S 957
FHERE - RZ - EUERIRHE AR S B R
BHEGEERN IRENRIHANETH
EiiZE

EHNABRAKRERC AT P WERE (X
EAHMRESH) MBRTFEEE® AR
BHEE -

HE-ANEBNANEERENAEBRTF

A
BMELEAKRET -

LEZEBHNEENEGRN(BEIRRZSE
&

RESBB - HBENETEHEE RREH)
EEAERTNAOME  AEEIZAY
BYNEEEEBRSEROIEEREREDN
BEfE-

\

=t
<

BEHEARTHEENAREDSARBNEL
EERANITLRABKETE  BAKERE
FEEHEAFRMmIIRBHER - {HBL
EETAERER  UAKERBERNK
MEEETHE  EMEXZERTE2OE
ERRAGSEBRERIBBEBZTELZ
A EmH R mMKEZ KESENEMAE
WEME-

BRES R M3 ¢ At BB TR R
SR

EEx
BOROEENERETENER A E
MEBEEH BESEBET R NE %
RIS EEEHRA O TARRROBTER
o DR B L e B M2 - 75 B0 2 AR e R
S5 50 00 S 2 IR 75 1 ) R T L O RO
R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an
asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within
one year.

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of IFRS 16 in accordance
with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of IFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to a lease of an office premises that has a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental
expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit scheme are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered services
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when the employee rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost
of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave
after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax (as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income) because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the
Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax
authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be use by individual group entities in their income
tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are
determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income
tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of
each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely
amount or the expected value.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

Cemetery assets

Cemetery assets consist of land costs, cost of initial land
development, and cost of landscaping for the general public
areas of the cemetery and are carried at the lower of costs
less accumulated amortisation and net realisable value prior to
the commencement of development of the cemetery.
Amortisation for cemetery assets is provided on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of the cemetery assets and
is recognised in profit or loss.

Upon commencement of development of the cemetery with
the intention of sale in the ordinary course of business of the
Group, the related carrying amounts of cemetery assets are
transferred to inventories.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Impairment on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated
individually, when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Inventories

Inventories include cemetery assets developed and ready for
sale, cemetery assets under development, and tombstones and
urns. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a settlement date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
IFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are FETIGEENERMEEHBREHK A

subsequently measured at amortised cost: 2

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose . HEesmEEZEBREAEERIME
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and HBEERE R

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash . ARETRIEEABEAZRSRE

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest

on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial
subsequently measured at fair
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose .
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting

contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash o
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest

on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that at the date
of initial application of IFRS 9initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 Business

Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling o

in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified o
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-

taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as o

a hedging instrument.

assets that meet the following conditions are
value through other
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of the reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “loss on fair value changes of financial assets at
FVTPL” line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including other
receivables and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

For the Group's instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effect.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED = Bl & i [ (2 %) & R 2 7]
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 £ #

3.

BEAGTHE®w

Tt LA
EREE (&)
& /& E A9 6 18 (&)

(

i)

= & 2 2 K 1 A0
RFEEERREVFERUARES
RBENE AREEREBTAR
BEAHMEORREZERTAR
VIZ R B PR Z R R o (FIL ST
B AEEREZEESERAEEN
EEREMHEHN BRELKRES
AILB TV BKAAE NI A EFH
AIRE L E KL -

RER FEEERRLTAEEMN
BEEETHER -

. SRTANMNBANE) HAEME
EFANERLEREAR

. EERBRINETISERNERNE
£ fInEERE  EHANGE
BEEOERBEAEE N

. ENBESHEBABGTEBEE
BB AR TR 075 - B 5k
0RO #0 TR o TR R R

"L /A

&) ;

. BERARERENERREBEYRE
R

. EBHEBABTEBEENE
KIET RS ABE L
BRI 0 B L T E A A
28 .

B i D R A A R AVA] - A AT R
B B30A - AAKRERERSER
B HERBIAKRDS KIBIE N BRIE
AEBEEAERASEERFERA TR
[l RIE Bl o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instruments is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Investment properties

Investment properties were stated at fair values based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers. The
fair values were determined based on a method of valuation
which involves certain assumptions and estimates of market
condition. In relying on the valuation report, the Directors
have exercised their judgment and are satisfied that the
assumptions used in the valuation are reflective of the current
market conditions. Changes to these assumptions would result
in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount
of gain or loss reported in profit or loss.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31
December 2019 was RMB6,010,000 (2018: RMB5,660,000).
Further details are set out in note 14.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

&P BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4.

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Certain of the Group’s financial assets relating to unquoted
equity instruments in the amount of RMB8,600,000 as at 31
December 2019 (2018: RMB8,845,000) were measured at fair
values determined based on unobservable inputs using
valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are required in
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant
inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these
factors could affect the reported fair values of these financial
instruments. Further details are set out in note 27c.

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5.

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers

H T EEENETERR @

PRTAEMNRNFETE

2019128318 » A& B E THEREE
HTEHBETIEATETENSREEAA
Eﬁzs 600 0007z (20184 : A R 8,845,000
JL) A F{E B ERE A A E TR 7R A
%ﬁ%%w%mﬁfém FFEE AR B (B T &
AR ABIRR T L A8 R  BZE
AEAENRLED e ERSM BT AAN
EE#%—EEIJ IF{E iE %/Fni‘ ﬁﬁ/\\MTu£27C°

= e A& 7 AR
iy BEFAHW=ESD

For the year ended
31 December 2019
BZE2019F12A31B L FE
Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium

units and Provision of
provision of cemetery
other burial- maintenance
related services services
SHEEM -
BB R R H
HihE it RHEEE
8 BA R 75 BERK
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBTT
Types of goods and service EmkREEE
Sales of burial plots S 2 i 30,228 -
Sales of columbarium units % 5 KRB 24,886 —
Provision of other burial-related 12 A 5 fth 2 b AE B8 AR 7%
services 4,472 —
Provision of cemetery maintenance 12 fit & & 4 & R %
services — 3,791
Total 5 59,586 3,791
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS

(continued)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)

For the year ended
31 December 2019
BZE2019F12A31B L FE
Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium

units and Provision of
provision of cemetery
other burial- maintenance
related services services

SHEEM -

B BB % 1R it
Hih E it RMHE
8 BA PR 75 # 58 IR 75
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBT R

Timing of revenue recognition e R W 2 Y B R

A point in time R 55,114 —
Over time & B ) 7R 1R 4,472 3,791
Total Bt 59,586 3,791

All of the Group’s revenue is from contracts with
customers and generated in the PRC based on where
goods are sold or services are rendered, and
substantially all of the Group’s identifiable assets and
liabilities are located in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. Rak&& 9@
(continued)
()  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with iy BEPFPeEHkm»BE®E
customers (continued)

For the year ended
31 December 2018
HZE2018F12A318 LFE

Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium
units and Provision of
provision of cemetery
other burial- maintenance
related services services
HEEM
& R RR K R
H fih B b REEER
1 8 AR 75 #E AR
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETTT ARET T
Types of goods and service EmRkREEE
Sales of burial plots HEE M 33,242 —
Sales of columbarium units & B I 4,145 —
Provision of other burial-related 12 f 5 fth B Mo AE B8 AR 75
services 2,619 =
Provision of cemetery maintenance IR E B A ERE
services — 3,379
Total Bt 40,006 3,379
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS

(continued)

(i)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)

For the year ended
31 December 2018
HZE2018F 128318 L EFE

Sales of

burial plots,

columbarium
units and Provision of
provision of cemetery
other burial- maintenance
related services services

HEEH

WY E S
H A E b REEE
16 8 PR 75 #: & R 15
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EFTTT ARETTT

Timing of revenue recognition e R W 2 Y B

A point in time EE B 37,387 —
Over time B B ) 7R 3 2,619 3,379
Total Bt 40,006 3,379

All of the Group’s revenue is from contracts with
customers and generated in the PRC based on where
goods are sold or services are rendered, and
substantially all of the Group’s identifiable assets and
liabilities are located in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

5.

REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS

(continued)

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of burial plots with maintenance services (multiple
performance obligations)

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
burial plots, the relevant burial plots specified in the
contracts have no alternative use to the Group. Taking
into consideration of the relevant contract terms, the
legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the
Group concluded that the Group does not have an
enforceable right to payment prior to transfer of the
burial plots to customers. Revenue from sales of burial
plots is therefore recognised at a point in time when the
burial plot is transferred to customers, being at the
point that the customer obtains the control of the burial
plots and the Group has present right to payment and
collection of the consideration is probable.

The cemetery maintenance service is considered to be a
distinct service. Transaction price is allocated between
sales of burial plots and the maintenance services on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Revenue relating
to the maintenance services is recognised over time. The
transaction price allocated to these services is recognised
as a contract liability at the time of the initial sales
transaction and is released on a straight line basis over
the period of service.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.

Sales of columbarium units (revenue recognised at a point
in time)

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
columbarium units, the relevant columbarium units
specified in the contracts have no alternative use to the
Group. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract
terms, the legal environment and relevant legal
precedent, the Group concluded that the Group does
not have an enforceable right to payment prior to
transfer of the columbarium units to customers. Revenue
from sales of columbarium units is therefore recognised
at a point in time when the columbarium unit is
transferred to customers, being at the point that the
customer obtains the control of the columbarium units
and the Group has present right to payment and
collection of the consideration is probable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS

(continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Provision of other burial-related services

Other burial-related services represented revenues from
miscellaneous services such as the organisation and
conducting of burial rituals, the design and landscaping
of the burial sites and additional engraving fees.
Revenue relating to these burial-related services is
recognised over time.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2019 and the expected
timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

5. WBREE DI

(ii)

(iii)

=

BEPAHBRNEE®E

e gt H i 2 3 48 BE AR 7%

H Al 2 4 48 BE AR 7% 45 2K B M TR AR 7S B9
Woas - AR ROETTREEN  Eit
R R SREECUARBIEAER -
B 22 1t 4 R AR 755 8 R M0 Mk 25 BE B R

PTEREREFPANFBELDEMEN
R ERE

MN2019F 128318 " EE R ELD
ER(RBEITHBLOBIT)NRSER
FERK O TESERAT

Provision of

cemetery

Sales of maintenance

burial plots services

RHEEER

HEEM 4 78 IR 7

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBT R

Within one year/on demand R—FERIRER 2,437 5,250
More than one year but not more BR—FETHBAMFE

than two years — 4,441

More than two years BB F — 53,751

2,437 63,442
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

5.

REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS

(continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers (continued)

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2018 and the expected
timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

}5 KRSRBOEED
(%

MN2018% 128318 D EEEZ R E A
EE(RBITRIFL BTN B ER
DRSO TERERAT

Provision of

cemetery

Sales of maintenance

burial plots services

mRHEER

THE E i 4 IR

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTFT

Within one year/on demand R—FERIRER 4,037 5,059
More than one year but not more il —FETEBMNE

than two years == 3,801

More than two years BB FE = 48,896

4,037 57,756

Operating segments

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision makers,
including Ms. Li Xingying, the general manager of Langfang
Wantong Cemetery Co., Ltd. (“Langfang Wantong”), Mr.
Huang Guangming and Mr. Yu Minghua, the deputy general
managers of Langfang Wantong (collectively, the “CODM"),
that are used to make strategic decisions. Information reported
to the CODM is based on the products and services delivered
or provided by the Group.

The Group's operating and reporting segments are (i) sales of
burial plots, columbarium units and provision of other burial-
related services; and (ii) provision of cemetery maintenance
services in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS

(continued)
Operating segments (continued)
Segment revenue and results

Year ended 31 December 2019

Al

a8 )

¥

B

5. K

w2 IR ()

DE R R EE

B F2019F12H31H IF F &
Sales of

burial plots,
columbarium

units and
provision of Provision of
other cemetery
burial-related maintenance
services services Total
HEEM
B B R 12 fit
Hih Eith RME
8 BA R 75 # 8 IR 75 “@st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR®B T ARBT R
Segment revenue Pol: & 59,586 3,791 63,377
Segment results DEBELE 47,436 3,178 50,614
Other income E ol A 4,906
Other gains H fth g 2= 1,061
Loss on fair value changes of BRAFEFABENS R
financial assets at FVTPL BEANFEZFHEE (245)
Gain on fair value changes of BEMERNTEEF
investment properties g 350
Distribution and selling expenses % $5 K $§ & F &% (6,631)
Administrative expenses THREX (16,739)
Profit before tax B A5 Al g A 33,316
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5.

(continued)

Operating segments (continued) K B ()
Segment revenue and results (continued) U R FE A (E)
Year ended 31 December 2018 A 22018F12H31H 1F F/&E
Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium
units and
provision of Provision of
other cemetery
burial-related maintenance
services services Total
HEEH
B R ER K R
HabE i REER
1 8 AR 7% HERS st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AR®ET T ARET T
Segment revenue Pol: L& 40,006 3,379 43,385
Segment results oAb A 33,421 3,010 36,431
Other income H g A 10,328
Other gains H fth g 2= 2,461
Loss on fair value changes of ERAVFEFABERA SR
financial assets at FVTPL BEANFEZFHEE (2,796)
Gain on fair value changes of WEMERNTEEE
investment properties I &= 250
Distribution and selling expenses % $5 & $4 & B &% (5,648)
Administrative expenses THAX (5,726)
Profit before tax R A5 Al g A 35,300

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent the gross profit attributable to each
segment without allocation of other income, other gains, loss
on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL, gain on fair
value changes of investment properties, distribution and selling
expenses, and administrative expenses. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment. There were no inter-segment
revenue during the current and prior years. No analysis of
segment assets and liabilities is presented as it is not regularly
reviewed by the CODM.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED # Bl &R E (ZE) BR2F 107

DA S S BUR B A3 AR E A
S BRER - D BEEEEDMELENTE
ModESEEMBA  Etplias  RAF
B ABENEREEATEZHEE &
EMEATEZSNE TEMEERXK
THRAX - WARAEEIBEEERRER
BAMEERDERFEFENGFERELE - K
FEMBAFELED HBEKE - ARAE
EIELLRARELBETHEN RALEZ
SIEROMEERBENDN -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4 #§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. Wam k& s

(continued)

Operating segments (continued) & B ()
Information about major customers FTEEFPEHR
Revenue from sales of columbarium units amounting to RE—EZBEFPHEBRBOHWZEAARE
RMB24,886,000 from a customer accounted for over 10% of 24,886,0007T * fh A £ E20194F W 51 #910%
the Group’s revenue for 2019 (2018: nil). LA £ (20185 : 4&) »
6. OTHER INCOME 6. HztW A
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BHLLEE
2019 2018
2019% 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR T
Interest income on bank deposits |ITHE R EBA 1,916 950
Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL R FEit ABFZZ &
BMEENKRERA 800 6,104
Government grants BT 78 B 2,000 3,084
Rental income el A 190 190
4,906 10,328
7. OTHER GAINS 7. Hftzs
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31BLEE
2019 2018
2019% 20184
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREF T
Foreign exchange gains, net AN W %5 F 7R 1,061 2,461
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. FR¥iAIE R
Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging: B 5% B % B 4 H0BR A T~ 238 -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TR AREET T
Auditors’ remuneration % EAD Bl & 1,180 930
Professional service fees for listing transfer from i GEM## = B 52 fy
GEM to Main Board of the Stock Exchange FRETEOFE
MR 7% & R 10,041 —
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - F &= k& &
& 784 677
Amortisation of cemetery assets (included in cost = & & 7 & 35 (B 35 35
of sales and services) B RARBKA) 384 356
Total depreciation and amortisation mEREEGES 1,168 1,033
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense BRERINTFE
X 7N 9,327 5,462
Expense relating to short-term leases B HEE R B
X 493 131
Staff costs, including Directors’ and chief BETIXA BREEEK
executive’s remuneration (note 9): ER{TBAER
B & (B 3E9) -
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITEKEM
& 7 6,134 4,751
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRAR A EH &R 427 318
Total staff costs #8 TRA 6,561 5,069
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 9. EE -BETHRAEREEH
EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS 7))
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EBERZETHA B
The emoluments paid or payable to the Directors and RAFERE—FE RAEBEET
chief executive by entities comprising the Group during EREIS BENIENESRESTT
the current and last year are as follows: BU\E\ WEMaT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BHLLEE
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARET T
Directors’ and chief executive’s BEEREETHAE
emoluments 5
— Fees — BH 264 252
— Salaries and other benefits — He RHEHAMEFR 705 678
— Discretionary performance-related — WIEXRIEH
bonus* TEAT* 421 408
— Retirement benefit scheme — RKEF 5T &
contributions H 51 47
Total emoluments e FOk 1,441 1,385
* Directors and chief executive are entitled to bonus @ EERERTBRABAERSILL
payments which are determined based on the duties and SHEBRBEZER&ESITHA ﬁﬂ‘éﬂzi
responsibilities of the Directors and chief executive as RAEEKEREEET -

well as the operating results of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 9. EEXE-BRETHAEREEH
EMPLOYEE'S EMOLUMENTS (continued) B ()
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) BEENESTHAEHFNMN®E
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2019 HZE2019F12H31H 1F F/Z

Retirement  Discretionary
Salaries and  benefit scheme performance-

Fees  other benefits contributions  related bonus Total
He2R RAER MEXRR

R HiE R BE R BB @t

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARBTR AR®T AR® TR ARBTR

Executive directors: HES:

Ms. Li Xingying TEALLT - 145 17 85 247
Mr. Huang Guangming EERELE - 286 34 168 488
Non-executive director: FUTES:

Ms. Zhao Ying (note 2) ALt (fF2) - - - - -

Independent non-executive directors: B FHTES:

Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon BEREL 88 — - - 88
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert kR L 88 - - - 88
Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan RIEH K& 88 - - - 88
Chief executive: BRTHAE:

Mr. Yu Minghua RAELLE — 274 - 168 442
Total Ehy 264 705 51 421 1,441
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. EE EETHRABREEH
EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS (continued) M ()
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EBEEZETHAEBFHMNE
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018 B ZE2018F12A31H IF F /&
Retirement Discretionary
Salaries and  benefit scheme performance-
Fees other benefits contributions related bonus Total
ek RIREF BERR
2A Hi 7 HE NG HEEL @it
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETR ARETT ARETFT ARETR
Executive directors: HOES:
Ms. Li Xingying FEFLL = 121 8 7 201
Mr. Huang Guangming BEEHLE = 286 39 168 493
Non-executive director: FETES:
Ms. Zhao Ying (note 2) ALt (i) - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: B FHTES:
Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon BERLE 84 — — — 84
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert EoxERT 84 = = = 84
Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan RIEREE 84 = = = 84
Chief executive: BRTRAS
Mr. Yu Minghua RAFERE = 271 = 168 439
Total Fohy 252 678 47 408 1,385
Notes: M S
(1) The directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments shown 1 LERBERSZSTERABEHME
above were for their services in connection with the NEBAEEEBHEHRE -
management of the affairs of the Group.
(2)  During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, Ms. (2) B E2018%4 &2019%12A31H IEF

Zhao Ying received her emoluments from a fellow
subsidiary of the Group, part of which was in respect of
her services rendered as an employee to Langfang
Wantong and as a director of the Company. No
apportionment has been made as the Directors consider
that it is impracticable to apportion these amounts
between her services to Langfang Wantong and as a
director of the Company and her services to the fellow
subsidiary of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 9. EE-BETHRAEBREEH
EMPLOYEE'S EMOLUMENTS (continued) [

Employee’s emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the
year included two directors whose payment was below
Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”) 1,000,000 for the vyear
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: two directors whose
payment was below HK$1,000,000), details of whose
emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the
remaining three (2018: three) highest paid employees
who are not the Directors are as follows:

& 8 %7
AEEAEBARESFMALERE
H E20195F 128318 1L F E HFE R
1,000,000 ;e ([HE L) B W & E =
(2018F : M % & T & B E R©
1,000,000 7T)  EHFMFBZEHR L
X-HBhT-—%FESHEFHES
(2018F : ZHZ)WFHBHF AT -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEE
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AR F T
Salaries and other allowances e ME M ER 865 750
Retirement benefit scheme contributions B K#& | 5+ 2 3% 53 21
918 771

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the Directors whose emoluments fell within the
following band is as follows:

FEEREHHEEOTHMATUT

Number of employees

EE#E
2019 2018
20195 20184
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000/ 7T 3 3

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the Directors, chief executive or the non-
director highest paid employees as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office (2018: nil). In addition, none of the Directors,
chief executive nor the non-director highest paid
employees waived any emoluments during the year
(2018: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FTEH B X
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLFE
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR® T AREETF T
Current enterprise income tax BVERf ZE P 1S B 9,739 11,363
Deferred tax (note 17) IRIER A (M 5E17) 26 (4,310)
9,765 7,053
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit FEBBERZEBRBATMERNAT

before tax as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBF T
Profit before tax B A5 A1 g A 33,316 35,300
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% R A B E25% A E /Y
Rl 8,329 8,825
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AW
for tax purpose Uik 3-4 2,103 416
Tax effect of income not taxable AR A
for tax purpose Uik 3-4 (648) (2,221)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERT B EIED
MG E — 33
Utilisation of tax losses previously B) A S AT R R
not recognised s e A (19) -
Tax charge MIER X 9,765 7,053
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

10. fTEHBE X w

Note:

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group’s subsidiaries had no
assessable profit subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax.

B

REFPECEMBRETEEMBRED REX
FBTEEED - PEMERANHRER25% °

M2018%F3A218 » EB L EZ G BBQOITFEHRK
B (E7HR) BBIERNTER]) » 5| AFBH®
W o X ERN2018F3A28AFEK AEE I
REBFIZR -REFNERMES AERERE
BRE2AEBITE SRS 25%HH - M2BEE BT
LA E 2B FI A IR16.5% 8 - THEERBERSE
BRGNS EEEN R GEEILRE &
R16.5% 8 F o

HAAEENBARYEAMMNTENEHMN
FERBURF - A G TSR P U EAE B IEF
SUiRE -

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 1. 8RERF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share RARBIEBEANEBEERERNREFRF TR
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the BATEETHE
following data:
Year ended 31 December
BZ1N2A3MBLEE
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARBTFT
Earnings: B
Earnings for the purpose of calculating basic BUAFEEFRER
earnings per share (profit for the year 238 &
attributable to owners of the Company) (K2REEE A
JE 115 5F P9 % 7)) 23,551 28,247
Numbers of shares: RiDEE
Weighted average numbers of ordinary shares A AT E &R EAR
for the purpose of calculating basic earnings Rl o k=R
per share mEFEIEE 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000
No diluted earnings per share for both 2019 and 2018 were 2019 R2018F I BE B BT L BA -
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue HR2019F R2018F W KR 2 FREF R
for both 2019 and 2018. ) o
12. DIVIDEND 12. RE

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of

the Company during 2019 (2018: nil).

M2019F » AR RHMEI N BRI TRE
FEHERMBE (20184F : £) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ -HERRKE

Furniture,
Leasehold Motor fixtures and
Buildings improvements vehicles  equipment Total
HE &4 -
£ MELE RE OEBERRME st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥TR AR®BTrx AR¥®TR AR®BTR
Cost R AR
At 1 January 2018 2018F1A1H 6,599 318 830 913 8,660
Additions NE 210 — 361 974 1,545
At 31 December 2018 2018412 A31H 6,809 318 1,191 1,887 10,205
Additions NE = = = 395 395
At 31 December 2019 2019412 A31H 6,809 318 1,191 2,282 10,600
Depreciation e
At 1 January 2018 201817318 (4,949) (31) (597) (452) (6,029)
Provided for the year FREE (291) (15) (116) (255) (677)
At 31 December 2018 2018%12A31H (5,240) (46) (713) (707) (6,706)
Provided for the year FRNEE (294) (15) (150) (325) (784)
At 31 December 2019 201912 A31H (5,534) (61) (863) (1,032) (7,490)
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December 2019 201912 A31H 1,275 257 328 1,250 3,110
At 31 December 2018 2018%12A31H 1,569 272 478 1,180 3,499

L% - BB RRER B RFBEENA
BAORRBATFERFTE

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, taking into account their
residual values, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the remaining lease term of land and useful life of
buildings of 20 years

B’F B R R AE B RS T AR ER0F B E

Leasehold improvements 20.00%

HEWERE

Motor vehicles 24.25%

e

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 19.40%-32.33%

B KERERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14. REYWHE

RMB’000
AR®BT R

Fair value AFE
At 1 January 2018 201851 H1H 5,410
Gain on fair value changes of investment properties REMERATFEEH WA 250
At 31 December 2018 201812 A31H 5,660
Gain on fair value changes of investment properties REMEANTEEZH RS 350
At 31 December 2019 2019412 A31H 6,010

The Group’s property interests held under operating leases to
earn rentals are measured using fair value model and is
classified and accounted for as investment properties.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2018 and 2019 have been arrived at based on a
valuation carried out by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited
(@ member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors), an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Group.

The Group engaged the third party qualified valuer to perform
the valuation. The Directors work closely with the qualified
external valuer to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

The fair value of investment properties are derived using the
direct comparison method. Direct comparison method is by
reference to market comparable with adjustments to reflect the
additions and locations of the subject properties.

In measuring the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as
the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.
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AEBENELHEREREERESHYE
REEATFERAGTE  DBERIERED
o

R20184F K2019F12 8318 » AEBKEY
E¥NATEREAEEVEBENBE LGS
BEEAEMBENEETHEBABRA R
(AANEMBee8)WEEER-

AEBZERE=TEERMEEMETHE -
EEHAERINPEEMRGIE B
EAREE OB ERNREE -

REMENRFEEEERLEZEZMG - B
BUBESEMS AL BRYEL(EHFE
ARBRIZ M EOK AR D RALE -

AEMENQATERE MEARSLRER
BAEBERERR -

TR EHABELZSEREDELTFENT
EREM (FRRMEANGETEREA
BE)RBREAFEFENG ARBOTE
RREBAFEFEIENAFEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14.
At 31 December 2019

BEWE®

M2019F12 A31H

Relationship of

Investment properties held Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable inputs

by the Group Fair value hierarchy and key input(s) unobservable input(s) to fair value
RELER BERFT TABREAEE
AEERSREME AFEER TEHAYE BRAAYE BAFEHER
Investment properties Level 3 Direct comparison Site unit rate, using An increase in the
(Carrying amount: method direct market site unit rate used
RMB6,010,000) The key input is: Site comparable and taking  would result in a
unit rate into account of time, same percentage
location and individual increase in the fair
factors such as size and ~ value measurement
quantum of properties,  of the investment
of RMB586/5q.m. properties and vice
versa.
REM%E E=R BEELBR GHEMLE  KAE ARSI EALLE
(R fE : FEHPAHER EmBULBBEY  LASERRENE
A K #6,010,0007T) 5 B AL L TR wEREM ATV EEFEEAER
ERIEE - flmER  Whl R2HR-
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
At 31 December 2018

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)
RERER
TEZRAYE

Investment properties held

by the Group Fair value hierarchy

AEEMBRENE AFEER

14.

BREWE®
201812 A31H

Significant
unobservable input(s)
BEAFRTA
BEGAYE

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value
TAEEGABESE
ATENEE

Investment properties Level 3 Direct comparison

(Carrying amount: method

RMBS5,660,000) The key input is: Site
unit rate

RENE E=H BERLBUA

(BRMEME TERABER:

AR #5,660,0007T) Y5 o B8 fir L R

Site unit rate, using
direct market
comparable and taking
into account of time,
location and individual
factors such as size and
quantum of properties,
of RMB552/sg.m.

GHEMLE  FRE
BEWBALEERY
FREERE AR EA
ERAEZ - flanER
EREE BARE
5527t/ FH K o

An increase in the
site unit rate used
would result in a
same percentage
increase in the fair
value measurement
of the investment
properties and vice
versa.

B AR5 s B AL b R
THEBHRENE
AVERGELAAR
Bl Rz TR e

There were no transfers into and out of Level 3 in both years. MEFEHEZEARBRE=H2BENR-
ANEEFERGEBIE

B AEBERENMENATER  FEEE
FREBMNMS I BRHIE - M mE—R
NEASE  AEBSZBRE=FEERKM
BRMAAEEMNEEMEGME A5EESE
EERMKBE_RBASE  BBEBEREA
HEIEERMISMN A B RREES - Wi
BME_SMNBASRE  ASBEAERABE
B = A A BUR A i B BT -

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties, the Group uses market-observable data to the
extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available,
the Group engaged third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation of the Group’s investment properties. The Group will
first consider and adopt Level 2 inputs where inputs can be
derived from observable quoted prices in the active market.
When Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group will adopt
valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs.
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15. CEMETERY ASSETS 15. EEEE
Landscape  Development
Land costs facilities costs Total
95N 353 BERRA st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R AR®BT R ARBTR AR%Tnx
Cost DN
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1 H1H 8,557 3,197 830 12,584
Additions NE = 345 = 345
At 31 December 2018 72018412 A318 8,557 3,542 830 12,929
Additions NE — 1,121 — 1,121
Transfer to inventories HEEEE (1,353) (641) (131) (2,125)
At 31 December 2019 7201912 A31H 7,204 4,022 699 11,925
Amortisation 5
At 1 January 2018 2018F181H (3,094) (97) (301) (3,492)
Provided for the year FARE (171) (168) (17) (356)
At 31 December 2018 201812 A31H (3,265) (265) (318) (3,848)
Provided for the year FREE (171) (196) (17) (384)
Eliminated on transfer R 532 56 52 640
At 31 December 2019 201912 A31H (2,904) (405) (283) (3,592)
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2019 7201912 A31H 4,300 3,617 416 8,333
At 31 December 2018 72018 12A31H 5,292 3,277 512 9,081

Effective from 1 January 2019, the carrying amount of

H2019F 1 A1H#E  HE T HNEEERE

leasehold lands is measured under IFRS 16 at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The land
costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term
of 50 years.

9 % B 755 R 5 E BI 551655 LA BK AR (T fa] 2 51
FEREMBERBENE - TR ANER
YA PS04 FH HA 8 o

Landscape facilities represent the construction cost of arbors
and bridges in the mausoleum. Amortisation for landscape
facilities is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the remaining lease term of land and estimated useful life of
20 years.

SEREEEETRERBROERKAR -
SERMEA B SRR TR B R AR F AT
ERAFH0FNBIEERTIREH -
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15.

16.

CEMETERY ASSETS (continued)

Development costs represent the costs paid for the foundation
work and putting the land into the condition ready for
development of cemetery business. Amortisation for
development costs is provided on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life (same as land costs over the lease term).

Upon commencement of development of an area within the
cemetery, the proportionate cemetery assets are transferred to
inventories.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

15.

16.

EEEE®
BERAERBETRRAS T HTAER
[ S 7 40 {6 1 T 2 15 O AR S o B AN A
BEEER G A ERES (AN
B 25 AR [R)) PO B 4R 3 8 o

EEARSEMAAGERRE  EREERLA
BRERE-

BAFEFABSNEREE

At 31 December

®12A31H
2019 2018
2019% 20184
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR F T
Unlisted investment: FEMEE :
— equity securities — RARFEFH 8,600 8,845

At 31 December 2018 and 2019, the Group had 10% equity
interests in Huimin Town Bank Co., Ltd of Anci District,
Langfang City (B mZ X EBRNERTRG BR A R,
which was classified as financial assets at FVTPL upon initial
application of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.

At 1 January 2018, the Group has 5.78% equity interests in
Suburban Rural Credit Cooperatives of Langfang City (B85
WA EMIEAAEB ). On 24 August 2018, the Group
entered into an agreement to dispose of its entire equity
interests in Suburban Rural Credit Cooperatives of Langfang
City to a third party at a consideration of RMB76,000,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the amount of loss
on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL of
RMB245,000 (2018: RMB2,796,000) was charged to profit or
loss.

Details of the valuation of the financial assets at FVTPL are set
out in note 27(c).
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720184 2019412 8318 » AE B B
PHRRRERMNBERITROHERRQFI0%
R #E - EA2018F1 A 18 &KX FE F BB Bt 7%
WELEBESSREF OB EBUAFEFAEBR
B & B E E o

M2018F 1818 » AEBFH I T H I E
1= B A {E B +£5.78% A% # - 201848 A
248 AEEFUBERAE = HEERE
BB RS AE EH L2 AR - R
8 & AR #76,000,0007T °

REE2019F 128318 It FE - B A FEE
AEHNEREELAFEEHERBARE
245,0007T (20184 : A & #2,796,0007T) 7
Bk e

BREAFESABRNSBEENGES
BEE R E27(0) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

17. DEFERRED TAX 17. ELEB A
The deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group and AEERAFERBAEFERRNELERIE
movements thereon during the current and prior years are as BEREZEHMT :
follows:
Withholding
tax on dividend
declared by a Fair value Fair value
PRC subsidiary change on change on
but not yet investment financial assets
paid properties at FVTPL Total
B A
=N EEICES BAFETA
XAHNRE RENE BRENER
MEMS WHATESD BEEATESD o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBT R ARBT R ARBT R
At 1 January 2018 2018F1A1H 2,200 110 4,085 6,395
Charge/(credit) to profit or loss WEZMB/ GTABH)

(note 10) (HizE10) = 63 (4,373) (4,310)
At 31 December 2018 2018%F12A31H 2,200 173 (288) 2,085
Charge/(credit) to profit or loss REBHEME /(T ABR)

(note 10) (Ftz10) = 88 (62) 26
At 31 December 2019 2019128318 2,200 261 (350) 2,11

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB85,000 (2018: RMB160,000) available for offset against
future profits. As at 31 December 2019, unused tax loss of
RMB85,000 (2018: RMB160,000) had not been recognised due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

17. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 17. EEZEF E ()
The following unrecognised PRC income tax losses has fixed T3E EE N H B &) KR B S E R
expiry date, which will be expired in the following year: SR TFEERE:

At 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT AR T
31 December 2022 2022412 A31H — 29
31 December 2023 2023412 A31H 85 131
Total B Et 85 160
Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on BB S RE - 8200861 A1H
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC B AR BB A B B E BREAY R A SR AR
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred tax has BAGBTEIOR o BB 5 B gt 4% I BR i =
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements RELHRHE  BZBRREENARARA
in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated BETEERE MABHTBMB AR R R
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounted to RMB78,113,000 FI FE {5 Be B = 5B A R #78,113,0005T (2018
(2018: RMB50,990,000) as the Group is able to control the £ AFR¥50,990,0007T) A BHEA IS SRR 1E
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is ob I T A TE BB o 720194128318 - B 4
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the AERELEHIBAEE AR ARM7,811,0007T
foreseeable future. The corresponding unrecognised deferred (20184 : AR ¥5,099,0007T) °

tax liabilities as at 31 December 2019 was RMB7,811,000
(2018: RMB5,099,000).

18. INVENTORIES 18. 78
At 31 December
®12H31A8

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET AR T
Burial plots 2 1,911 675
Tombstones 2 638 1,066
Columbarium units & IX R 16,724 260
19,273 2,001
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19. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. A F1E N H b fE U Fx 18

At 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETTT
Staff advance BT 30 30
Prepayments T8 - 5/ 18 471 106
Others H 237 329
738 465
20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 20. RITHBREAS
Bank balances carried interest at market interest rates ranging 2019FNA3IB - RITHEBEBFRNT
from 0.30% to 0.35% per annum as at 31 December 2019 0.30% %£0.35% M T % FIE & B (20184 -
(2018: 0.30% to 0.35% per annum). RMB is not a freely FNT030%%0.35%) - AREERZTA]AE
convertible currency in the international market. The exchange RMSERERNEE ARBHNEXRHSP
rate of RMB is determined by the government of the PRC and BEBRNETE  BZERAEELDFHZHHK
the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to JiF 78 0 &Y B 35 PR 1l 3R PR o
exchange restrictions imposed by the government of the PRC.
The Group’s bank balances and cash are denominated in the REBRTEHRBS AT EBEE

following currencies:

At 31 December

MW12H31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Denominated in RMB WA REESE 142,052 138,340
Denominated in HK$ LA TTEHE 47,228 53,072
189,280 191,412
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. ESRHEMENKIEA
At 31 December
M12H31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TR AREET T
Trade payables g 5 N RIE 2,180 1,043
Accrued expenses FEET R X 11,229 8,427
13,409 9,470
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented NTASREAREREZEAHNEINNESE
based on the invoice date at the end of each reporting NRENRER DT :
period:
At 31 December
M12H31H
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Less than 1 year 1F A 2,041 922
1 to 2 years 1824 51 25
Over 3 years 3F L E 88 96
2,180 1,043
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22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities represent the obligations to transfer burial
plots and cemetery maintenance services in accordance with
the revenue recognition policy and the nature of the business.

22. &

SERNEE

BHRBEREREHRRERREEGHEES
BEBPERGERBTNERS -

rm

At 31 December At 31 December

2019 2018

201945 720184

12A31H 12HA31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBTFT

Sales of burial plots HEE 2,437 4,037
Provision of cemetery maintenance services 12 it & & # & iR 75 63,442 57,756
65,879 61,793

Current k) 7,687 9,096
Non-current IERE 58,192 52,697
65,879 61,793

As at 1 January 2018, liabilities amounted to

RMB60,848,000.

contract

Customers who purchase burial services are required to make
advance payments for maintenance fees, relating to the on-
going cemetery maintenance services of their burial plots and
memorials over 20 years, and such amounts are generally paid
together with the purchase of burial plots.
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EHNEE®W
TH2RIERERNRE ST LSS
BEAMBEEYANEE -

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 22.

The following table presented the amounts of revenue
recognised in the profit or loss which were included in
contract liabilities carried forward from prior periods.

Year ended 31 December 2019 B E2019%F 1231 H IFFJE

Provision of

cemetery
Sales of maintenance
burial plots services
RHUHEER
HEEH # B IR
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®B T AR® T
Revenue recognised that was included in ~ RFEVFTFAGHEELEH
the contract liability balance at the o
beginning of the year 1,600 3,635
Year ended 31 December 2018 B E2018%F1231H IF F/Z
Provision of
cemetery
Sales of maintenance
burial plots services
REER
BHE E i PR 75
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETFT ARBFT
Revenue recognised that was included in ~ RENF A AL B EEH
the contract liability balance at the B 2 R A
beginning of the year 3,169 3,252

The Group receives all the contract amounts when signing the
contracts with customers on sales of burial plots and provision
of cemetery maintenance services. Transaction price is
allocated between sales of burial plots and the maintenance
services on a relative standalone selling price basis. The
transaction price allocated to these services is recognised as a
contract liability at the time of the initial sales transaction. The
Group considers the advance payment schemes does not
contain significant financing component and accordingly the
amount of consideration is not adjusted for the effects of the
time value of money taking into consideration that the
payment terms were not structured primarily for the provision
of finance to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

23.

24,

25.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

At 1 January

23. MEEBHEEHR

Financing  Amounts waived At 31 December

2018 cash flows by related parties 2018
420184 E )yl 20184
118 Reng R RRIA 12A318
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBETTT ARBETTT ARETFTT ARETT
Amount due to & 1~ B B 5 SR 1B
a related party 752 (752) = =
SHARE CAPITAL 24. B
Number
of shares RMB’000
W& 7 21 B AREET T
Ordinary shares of United States Dollar BRR0.01ZET([ZET])
(“US$") 0.01 each Y & i A%
Authorised: ETE
At beginning and end of 2018 2018%F K2019%F F 9] &2
and 2019 F R 3,000,000,000 205,984
Issue and fully paid: BITRBR
At beginning and end of 2018 2018%F K2019%F F 9] &2
and 2019 F R 1,000,000,000 66,192
RESERVES 25. f#1&
Statutory surplus reserve ETE R RFEE

Pursuant to the relevant PRC rules and regulations, the
subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the PRC are required
to transfer no less than 10% of their profits after taxation,
after offsetting any prior years’ loss as determined under the
China Accounting Standards, to the statutory surplus reserve
until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the
distribution of a dividend to shareholders of the PRC
subsidiaries. Statutory surplus reserve is non-distributable other
than in liquidation and can be used to make good previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into paid-in capital
in proportion to the existing interests of equity owners,
provided that the balance after such conversion is not less
than 25% of the registered capital.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

26.

27.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of borrowings, if
any, net of cash and cash equivalents and total equity of the
Group.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with the
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through raising
of new capital, issue of new debt or the redemption of the
existing debts.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

26.

27

EXmEREE

AEEEREAN WRASEEREENES
BRESELLERE ARSABEERERSE
BRREL LTRRKARDEF - AEENHE
BRBNBE-FREILE -

AEBENEREBEBEER(WNH) LMERIR
ELBRCEFEYURAEE DA -

AEEEEEENRAENERE - RIBAH
e EEEEREAKRAREENEH
Fkg - ERNEEBNERZSE A5ESE
BEEHES BOHEBABELRERE
B PTAREBEARERE-

EMITH

a. SR IEN#E

At 31 December

®12H31A8
2019 2018
2019% 20184
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET AR T
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BBERAFTEN
SREE 189,547 191,771
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEGFAEBDZH
SRMEE 8,600 8,845
Financial liabilities tEAE
Amortised cost B IH R AN 12,481 8,639
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's financial instruments consisted of financial
assets at FVTPL, other receivables, bank balances and
cash and trade and other payables. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (interest rate risk and foreign
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management of the Group manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(i) Market risk

The Group's activities expose it primarily to the
financial risks of interest rates.

There has been no change to the Group's
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risk from prior year.

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market
interest rate on bank deposits carried at prevailing
market interest rates based on or by reference to
the interest rate promulgated by the People’s Bank
of China.

The Group currently does not have interest rate
hedging policy. However, management will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis is not presented as the
management of the Group considered that the
sensitivity of the Group’s exposure towards the
change in interest rate is not material to the
consolidated financial statements.
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. €@ T B
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b. TREREREBZREEKE
(continued)
(i) Market risk (continued) (y mHERRE)
Foreign currency risk Sh B[
The Group collects all of the revenue in RMB and REBMRMERZHUNAREK
incurs most of the expenditures as well as capital B KE o A B A F IR A
expenditures in RMB. AREEFHE -
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign REBDINETHEZEREE K
currency denominated monetary assets and EEaERREEHRZREER
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting ™
period are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =R
At 31 December At 31 December
M12831H M12831H
2019 2018 2019 2018
20195 20184 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT ARBTT AR®TR ARBTET
HK$ BT 47,570 53,251 934 37
Sensitivity analysis BREREDH

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation in
HK$ against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2018: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB
against the relevant foreign currency. 5% (2018:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED # EI & E (ZEE) AR AR 139

AEBETREHETHLAREE
TR B AR -

TRFINEMAEMEHEFT
BHERAT AEEHARER
51 M E = 5% (20184 ¢
5% )MAREEZBEEEHN
BRRTE 5% (20184 : 5% ) & [A
AEIRNBEEEIE A BERIMNE
BB FTEFAMSURELLE - I
REEEEBHEXSEHEZE
EEHNT-H - HRESNER
BB ENREEERIE
B - W R HI R NS [ R
E)5%(EH FHE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 4 #§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B RR W

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IEF[E

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

. ERM TR

b. £riER

D%Ti%@ 1= MR (8)

ﬂ]]ﬁF

B

(i) Market risk (continued) )y mHERRE)
Foreign currency risk (continued) SN B (4E)
Sensitivity analysis (continued) BRRE 5 AT (5&)
An analysis of sensitivity to currency risk for the A& B E R g 6 BURE D AT
Group is as follows: m

Year ended 31 December

BZE1N2A3MBLEE
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBF T
Increase/(decrease) in post-tax profit 4 A& 4 1% 4 ) 2
for the year #n, CR )
— if RMB weakens — BEARKEL
against HK$ 7 JT AE 55 2,332 2,661
— if RMB strengthens — REBEARBR
against HK$ 7 T E 58 (2,332) (2,661)
(i)  Credit risk iy EERR
At the end of the reporting period, the Group's RI|EHAR - AEEHREH R
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause ﬁﬁ&'ﬁﬁﬁfj/\%ﬁlzﬁﬁlﬁﬁ
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to BEANEREERBRTIBHE M
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is Eﬂ%ﬁﬁ(ﬂi‘%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@nbmﬁ
arising from the carrying amount of the respective MEENKRMEEE -
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
The Group’s credit risk primarily relates to other REENEERBREZHEME
receivables and bank balances. The credit risk on W SRIB R ERTT 4 ﬁ?ﬁﬁ’? o IRITHE
bank balances is limited because the bank MR AEREBNAREEE

balances are maintained with large commercial
banks in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The other receivables are measured on 12m ECL
basis. For the purposes of internal credit risk
management, the Group uses past due
information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
There is not past due of other receivables. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is not significant increased.

132 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED # [ & 4 [ (12 %) B R A 7]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 £ #

R1T ALBBRITERNEER
[\ K o

H o e kIR 128 A TREIE &
BREESE - HETAMAR
gIg - ZK%?‘NJFH?QEHEHE%E
EEERB N ERBIARE

1 38 A0 ﬁ@%”&mlﬁﬁﬂﬁ
H-itns  EFRRAEE
15 & 2\ F 3 % K 8 48 0



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. €@ T B
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b. TREAREREBZEKBKRE)

(continued)

(i) Liquidity risk management (i) mEBESRAKLER
The following table details the Group's remaining TRAJAEEFTEEHEE
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial HFARE DR EE - ZRIBEBEAR
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on SEAEANFINERFEHNS
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities MEBERURRRERY - Z
based on the earliest date on which the Group can XARKZNMERRNESE SR
be required to pay. The table includes both 2-EFBERZE E'Jﬂiﬁﬁﬁ(ﬁ
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent BEBREHROFERAE

that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived based on the
interest rate outstanding at the end of the
reporting period.

Weighted Total Total

average Less than undiscounted carrying

interest rate 1 year cash flows amount
i RERAE

TR = DRF REAE  REEAST

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

% ARBTRT ARBTR AR¥TxR

At 31 December 2019 20194

12A31H
Non-derivative financial FETES R
liabilities A&
Trade and other payables &5 & H
FEfH T IE — 12,481 12,481 12,481

At 31 December 2018 20184

12A318
Non-derivative financial LS
liabilities BfE
Trade and other payables &5 K& H At
& 3R IE = 8,639 8,639 8,639
c.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments . SZ2RMIEMAFEFE=E
This note provides information about how the Group ZHFREBAAEB MM FIEEH
determines fair values of its financial assets and SRMEERBBEZAFENER -
liabilities.
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities are TREERBENATFEREBEARTE
determined in accordance with generally accepted BRANREBREERESNEE -

pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

C.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)

The management of the Group considers that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their fair values.

The fair values of financial assets at FVTPL have been
arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out by Vigers
Appraisal & Consulting Limited (2018: Savills Valuation
and Professional Services Ltd.), an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Group.

. T IAEm

C.

SRIAEMATENE @

AEEEEERRAHYBHRRAR
BHEKAIENEREERABNRE
HEREAFERSE

BAVEFABENESREERFE
DEREREEYEBENBELAE
REXHEMRBHEETEERE
IRAAE (20185 « E—AFRAEMGE
REBEXBEREARAR) AETHMAER

o

TRETEFHUNNETEMEERT
ENEN (CERGERMEMANES

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in

particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used). ANEIR) ©
Fair value
as at
31 December Valuation techniques  Significant
Financial assets 2019 Fair value hierarchy and key inputs unobservable input(s)
20195
12A31R BB R EXFABE
tREE WAYE AFEER TERAYE BAHE
RMB'000
ARBFT
Financial assets at FVTPL 8,600 Level 3 Market approach: based P/B ratio: 0.84 (note)
— unlisted equity FE=/R on the target companies’ DLOM: 30%
investment financial performance MR K : 0.84 (Ff5)
BAFEH ARG and the multiples of RIS mBILTE
{f@;ﬁé —¥Em comparable companies.  30%
BAEE The key inputs are: (1)
Price to book ratio (“P/B
ratio”); (2) Discount for
lack of marketability
("DLOM")
migE: EREERA
FBRARATELRD
G F2HAME
B(TERE (WHE
X)) QmzmsRE
'riﬁuﬁ (rzmBRd
izl
Note: An increase in the P/B ratio used in isolation would result MisE: BEBEFERMNT M REZEMEERZEA
in an increase in the fair value measurement of the FEFABZNEBHEERFER
financial assets at FVTPL, and vice versa. A 5% increase/ EEM RZAR - MAEEMES
decrease in the P/B ratio holding all other variables & MIREREIN R AD5% B

KERBEEMN BIARE
430,0007T °

constant would increase/decrease the carrying amount of
the investment by RMB430,000.
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. @RI A
c.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments . SBMIAMNAFEET=EG®E
(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements E=ZBATFEAEENHE
Financial assets
at FVTPL
BOFEFA
BENEBMEE
RMB
AR
At 1 January 2018 7201861818 87,641
Loss on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL & A F{EF AEZEH & 7
BEATFEZHEE (2,796)
Disposal & (76,000)
At 31 December 2018 72018F12A31H 8,845
Loss on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL & QA F{EFT AB=Z A2 &
BEATEEZHER (245)
At 31 December 2019 2019512 H31H 8,600
28. OPERATING LEASE 28. R&EHE
The Group as lessor AEEERALEA
As at 31 December 2019, the investment properties held by 2019512 A31H - AEBEFEHRIME £ /Y
the Group for rental purpose have committed tenants for one REMEREBPITAR —FRNERA HEE
year with fixed rental. E ©
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: HEERBKEBREMNROT
2019
20195
RMB’000
AR TR
Within one year R—FR 200
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28. OPERATING LEASE (continued) 28. KEHE W
The Group as lessor (continued) AEBEEALMEA (B
The Group had contracted with tenants for the following AEERBETABEECEHENBERTFEILIN
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable TRRFKEBRERNK :
operating leases:
2018
20184
RMB'000
AREETF T
Within one year R—FR 200
In the second to the fifth year, inclusive FCFEENF(REEEMS) 200
400
29. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 29. EXEIE
At 31 December
R12A31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETT
Contracted but not provided for in the BEEIHERREG 0181 5
consolidated financial statements: MR
— Expenditure in respect of cemetery — HEEEEFEHNRAX
assets 348 —
30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME 30. R IKE RIS

The employees of the Group are members of a state-managed
retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC Government.
The Group is required to contribute 20% of the total monthly
basic salaries of its current employees to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
specified contributions.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
RMB427,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
RMB318,000), represented contributions paid and/or payable to
the scheme by the Group for the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12A318 IE F[E

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of Directors and chief executive, who are

also key management, is disclosed in note 9.

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 32.
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25
January 2017 and became the holding company of the Group
as at 14 March 2017. Information about the statement of

MBS RS

TEEEABHM

EERESTHAS (ABATEEEE)M

3 B 0 P SO R o

RN E B AR R K

AN RQBR2017F1A25BEH S B S sE MK
o WHR2017F38 148K AR EBIZER A
Ale BEAARRAMBEMARREFEEBEDD

financial position and movements in the reserves of the BT
Company were as follows:
Statement of financial position BT 5RO &=
At 31 December
M12A31H
2019 2018
2019% 20184
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AR F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment lE B N 42 48
Investment in a subsidiary &M B QA — =
42 48
CURRENT ASSETS mEE E
Dividend receivable JiE Uk B% B 19,800 19,800
Prepayments and other receivables T8 508 K H At FE UL
I8 13 117
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE Uk B BB X R 3R IE 23,074 —
Bank balances and cash RITEB LIRS 22,628 52,742
65,515 72,659
CURRENT LIABILITIES mE)BE
Other payables H b & 5RIE 918 28
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE 5B BB A B ZIB — 2,374
918 2,402
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEBEEFE 64,597 70,257
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES @B EER T A E 64,639 70,305
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERR#E
Share capital [N 66,192 66,192
Reserves B (1,553) 4,113
TOTAL EQUITY T 7 4R RE 64,639 70,305
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 3

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

N

AR TFHBRARRGEE®

Movements in the Company’s reserves RARIEHEE
Retained
earnings
(accumulated
loss)
R EEF
(R E8)
RMB’000
ARBT
At 1 January 2018 MR2018F1/81H 2,531
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FRREMNEREE W LR 1,582
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12H31H 4,113
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FREBELEAER A% (5,666)
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12H31H (1,553)
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33. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 33. RME QAR ER
As at the end of the reporting period, the Company has direct RBERR RARFBEUTHEATNE
and indirect equity interests in the following subsidiaries: B R B R

Shareholding/equity

Place and the date Issued and fully interests attributable

of incorporation/ paid capital/ to the Company
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital At 31 December  Principal activities
ER LT A ERTRAR  W12A31B4F2F
KEAR AR Bt ER A H BR/ZMER EEBRWH/BE TEEE
2019 2018
2019  2018%F
Langfang Wantong (note a) PRC RMB32,000,000 100% 100% Sales of burial plots,

26 November 2007 columbarium units,
provision of other burial-
related services and
cemetery maintenance
services

B EMm (Fia) s A E#32,000,0007C 100% 100% SHEEM BRE  REH
200741178268 2R RS R EE
HERY
Wan Tong (HK) Company Limited HK HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
18 January 2017
EW(BHB)BERAA Bk 1% 7T 100% 100% ®E#EK
2017 1H18H
Shing Sheng International Limited* BVI Us$1 100% 100% In-vestment holding
27 January 2017
Shing Sheng International Limited* EBELEE E 100% 100% AR
2017F1R278
Langfang Wantongyuan Corporation PRC US$30,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd. (note b) 2 March 2017
BHERECEREERAA R 30,000,000 7T 100% 100% REZER
(Hi&Eb) 201743428
BHTERBEEZRBERD A PRC RMB500,000 100% 100%  Provision of funeral service
(note a) (Langfang City Wantong 23 March 2017
Funeral Services Co., Ltd.)**
BHmERBEZRBERD A i A& #500,0007T 100% 100% HREBEERS
GESY 201743A23R
Notes:
(@) These companies are PRC limited liability companies. M
(b) Langfang Wantongyuan Corporation Investment Co., Ltd. is a (@) RERARTETRA
wholly foreign owned company established in the PRC. (b) B EAECLEEERATAREBR
MHINERTE] e

* Directly-held by the Company
* HAARREERFE

xR E A

i English name for identification only

The Group does not have any subsidiaries issuing debt
securities during the year and at the end of the reporting
period.

REARBEHR  ARBELBERME L
BIBRITEBKESR
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34. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 3. REBMERSBRE

Since early 2020, the coronavirus epidemic (“the COVID-19
outbreak”) has spread across China, and it has to a certain
extent impacted the economic activities of the Group. As a
burial services provider in Langfang, Hebei Province, the
Group’s revenue from burial services is expected to decrease as
compared to the same period in 2019 due to the COVID-19
outbreak.

The management is still in the process of assessing the
impacts of the COVID-19 outbreak on the financial
performance and position of the Group and is currently unable
to estimate the quantitative impacts to the Group up to the
date of these consolidated financial statements, but will
however closely monitor the development of the COVID-19
outbreak and perform further assessment of its financial
impact.
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